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consolidated income statement 1

in CHF million 2011 2010 2009 2008

Total operating income 287.8 319.4 306.3 367.2

EBITDA 2 19.8 29.2 24.3 54.1

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 2 8.3 13.2 14.6 38.6

Extraordinary income and expenses –5.9 – 8.5 21.2

Net income for the period befor minority interests 0.2 9.5 14.7 48.0

Equity before minority interests 156.5 162.1 170.2 170.8

weighted average workforce

2011 2010 2009 2008

Full time equivalents 1,048 1,046 1,027 1,104

share statistic 1

in CHF 2011 2010 2009 2008

High 143.00 145.90 162.00 215.00

Low 97.00 131.00 130.00 138.50

Earnings per share 3 0.10 4.82 7.50 24.47

Dividend per share 4 2.00 2.50 2.50 8.00

1 Financial years 2009 and before: values according to IFRS
2 in 2008: EBIT before recognition of disposal of subsidiaries. In 2009: EBIT before recognition of disposal of subsidiaries and investment property. in 2011: EBIT before

provisions.
3 At 31 December 2011 the share capital comprised 1,960,000 registered shares with a par value of CHF 1.– each.
4 Dividend proposed to the Annual General Meeting on 10 May 2012.
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Orell Füssli is an international industrial and commercial group focusing on the core
businesses of banknote & security printing, industrial systems used in the personalisation
of security documents and branded products, and book retailing. The book publishing
business has formed the traditional basis for the Zurich-based company since 1519. Orell
Füssli is organised in three divisions and publishing companies corresponding to these
business activities.

In its banknote and security printing operations Orell Füssli produces banknotes, iden-
tity documents and securities, and is noted for innovative applications of printing proces-
ses and technologies. The industrial systems business unit manufactures industrial sys-
tems for the digital printing and encoding of banknotes, passports and security
documents, plastic cards, labels and packaging. With outlets located mainly in the
Zurich/Eastern Switzerland region and a strong presence in online trading, Orell Füssli is
one of Switzerland’s leading book retailing groups. 

Orell Füssli generates sales of some CHF 300 million with 1000 employees at locations
in 10 countries and is listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange.
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board of directors orell füssli holding ltd

Dr. Klaus Oesch Chairman

Dr. Hans Kuhn 1 Deputy Chairman

Nick Huber 1

Dewet Moser 2

Gonpo Tsering 2

Andreas S. Wetter 1

Dieter Widmer 2

1 Member of the Compensation Committee
2 Member of the Audit Committee

Editorial 
Dear shareholder,

2011 was dominated by dramatic events worldwide. Besides political upheavals such as those in the
Arab countries, high government indebtedness, primarily in Europe but also in the USA, caused
turmoil, while the economies of many developing nations put up a sparkling performance. Switzerland
benefited from strong demand for exports, but is increasingly suffering from the overvaluation of the
Swiss franc. Switzerland’s close economic ties to its European neighbours mean that it cannot 
decouple completely from the sometimes threatening developments in Europe. 

This environment also affected Orell Füssli’s business in the past year. Although the company under-
took vigorous efforts, the unsatisfactory results presented here cannot, of course, be attributed solely
to external influences. Nevertheless, these accumulated unfavourably to leave clear traces in all
divisions. The strength of the Swiss franc had an adverse impact on banknote exports. In banknote
printing, the further delay in the start of printing the new series of Swiss banknotes, which was out-
side OrellFüssli’s control, further depressed results. In book retailing the Swiss franc exchange rate had
a negative impact on sales and profit margins. Furthermore, selling printed books is no longer a growth
market. In Internet trading and digital downloading of book contents new and powerful competitors
operating on a global scale, such as Amazon, Google or Apple, are increasingly displacing traditional
bricks-and-mortar book retailing. As one of Switzerland’s leading book retailing groups, Orell Füssli
is also very directly exposed to this challenge. This has resulted in concentration on fewer locations
and expansion of the Internet offering. Sales revenues reported in Swiss francs by the industrial
operations in Germany are being curtailed by the low euro exchange rate. The unexpected departure
of the CEO at Atlantic Zeiser is one of the reasons for the delayed implementation of efforts to focus the
business.

The unsatisfactory results point to weaknesses which need to be remedied swiftly. A costly restruc-
turing agreed upon by the Board of Directors in 2011 was therefore launched at Atlantic Zeiser at the
beginning of this year. Provisions for this were charged to the 2011 financial year. A programme to
adjust selling space in the bookstores has already been underway for some time. We aim in this way and
through systematic optimisation of purchasing costs to achieve a resumption of more attractive returns.
Ongoing cost management is being practised in security printing, although competitive disadvantages
due to location and exchange rates cannot be offset in full. However, we expect to make repeat print
runs for the Swiss National Bank and finally to commence production of the new series of Swiss bank-
notes in the current year. In addition to sustained effort on costs, however, we need to focus strategic
planning more closely on identified opportunities, since these do exist alongside the risks and turmoil
in all fields of activity. A thorough analysis of changes in the marketplace and in technical capabilities,
creative ideas and innovations in conjunction with a sound balance sheet are preconditions which
already exist at Orell Füssli for achieving this objective. 
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The Board of Directors will propose a motion to the Annual General Meeting on 10 May 2012 to
amend the Articles of Incorporation to reflect changed circumstances. The Board will also propose the
payment of a dividend of CHF 2.00, which is not covered by earnings, but is justifiable in light of the
sound balance-sheet situation. Our long-term dividend policy does not foresee a dividend payment on
the basis of the current results. However, the proposed dividend is intended to underline our confi-
dence in the future development of the company. 

In line with long-term planning, Klaus Oesch will relinquish his position as Chairman of the Board
and retire from the Board of Directors. All other Directors are standing for re-election. The Board of
Directors will submit a proposal to the Annual General Meeting to elect Heinrich Fischer as a new
Member of the Board, who will be elected Chairman of the Board following the Annual General
Meeting. Heinrich Fischer has many years of experience as a manager and CEO in industrial companies
and has been a member of the Board of Directors of various listed companies for some years. 

We wish to take this opportunity to thank our employees for their loyal cooperation and their
untiring efforts. Thanks also to our customers and shareholders for the confidence they show in our
company, its directors and officers.

Zurich, April 2012

Dr. Klaus Oesch Michel Kunz
Chairman of the Board of Directors CEO 
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Business in
2011

Orell Füssli reported lower sales revenues at all divisions in the year under review. Special
effects at Atlantic Zeiser and in the Book Retailing Division severely depressed operating
earnings at both divisions. Structural changes will be implemented at Atlantic Zeiser in par-
ticular in 2012 in order to achieve a sustained turnaround in earnings. 

Orell Füssli reported sales of CHF 289.0 million in the 2011 financial year. This corresponds to a
decline of almost 9% compared to the previous year. After adjustment for exchange rate movements
and changes in the scope of consolidation, sales by the ongoing businesses were 5% lower. The decline
in operating earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) at the Orell Füssli Group to CHF 2.4 million
(2010: CHF 13.2 million) was attributable more or less equally to provisions for restructuring at
Atlantic Zeiser and adjustments to the branch network of the Book Retailing Division. A profit of
CHF0.2 million resulted for shareholders of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd (2010: CHF 9.5 million). 

The Orell Füssli Group’s balance sheet still shows a healthy relationship between current and non-
current items and between shareholders’ equity and borrowings.  The strong rise in work in progress
is reflected on the assets side in an increase in other receivables and high inventory levels, and on the
liabilities side in higher prepayments from customers. The equity ratio (including minority interests)
was 66.5% (2010: 72.9%). Free cash flow amounted to CHF -7.9 million (2010: CHF +14.0 million).
The net cash position declined from CHF 21.3 million in the previous year to CHF 7.5 million.

segmental results 

in CHF ‘000 2011 2010 2009 2008

Division Atlantic Zeiser

Net revenues from sales to customers 75,752 79,151 72,536 104,984

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) and before extraordinary income and expenses –1,901 212 –4,427 7,275

Division Security Printing

Net revenues from sales to customers 85,402 99,275 85,323 102,980

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) and before extraordinary income and expenses 11,347 13,075 16,704 23,983

Division Book Retailing

Net revenues from sales to customers 113,768 119,861 123,629 122,747

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) and before extraordinary income and expenses 304 1,653 1,167 3,423

Atlantic Zeiser Division
In the 2011 financial year Atlantic Zeiser reported a 7% increase in sales revenues expressed in euros
(a decline of 4% in CHF) compared with the previous year, but this was well below expectations. The
pace of progress in business with digital printing modules in particular was not as rapid as expected.
The resources deployed for this purpose imposed a heavy burden on operating earnings. The steps
taken in the meantime to reduce fixed costs and make them more flexible will have a positive impact
on profitability in the current year. Provisions have been made for these measures. The business with
software solutions and special inks for the printing industry supplied by the SOFHA and Tritron com-
panies developed as planned in terms of sales and earnings. Atlantic Zeiser holds majority interests in
these companies. 

There was considerable demand for products in the card sector. Orders for new machines and con-
sumption of spare parts and consumables increased, since systems already installed in the market were
again fully utilised. Good order intake towards year-end means that Atlantic Zeiser starts 2012 with a
high level of orders in hand (+34% compared with the previous year).
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In the banknote and security systems sector the overall trend in demand for numbering systems was
slightly positive. Orders expected in the 2011 financial year for machines and systems to be used in
security printing applications in the government-related sector were delayed in some cases or were not
secured. Atlantic Zeiser continued to establish modern digital printing solutions for revenue stamps
and for marking banknote paper, thus systematically implementing the company’s strategic focus.
Developments: 
In 2011 Atlantic Zeiser focused its attention in the digital printing sector primarily on the packaging
printing segment for the pharmaceutical and cosmetics industries, and supplying multipliable solu-
tions. In these markets Atlantic Zeiser’s digital printing solutions satisfy the growing demand for prod-
uct tracing and counterfeit prevention as well as flexible individualisation capabilities in volume man-
ufacturing which can be used as far as possible during the production process. Atlantic Zeiser secured
orders from prominent pharmaceutical and cosmetics groups.

In the card segment Atlantic Zeiser gained major reference customers for full-colour personalisation
of ID cards, such as driving licences or identification documents. Atlantic Zeiser extended its lead as a
producer of gift card individualisation machines through close cooperation with the publishers of
large-volume card runs. Atlantic Zeiser exhibited a systems integration approach at the “Cartes” trade
fair in 2011: in addition to extending the value chain beyond simple personalisation, Atlantic Zeiser
introduced solutions for upstream and downstream production processes, which are linked by propri-
etary production management software covering all of these. 

Atlantic Zeiser reinforced its quality leadership in the manufacture of numbering systems for the
banknote industry through further modernisation of the Emmingen production plant. Atlantic Zeiser
thus fulfils the increasingly demanding requirements in terms of quality and short-notice service level,
and secures its position in this market for the future.

Orell Füssli Security Printing Division 
Capacity in Orell Füssli’s Security Printing Division was fully utilised in 2011. In the fourth quarter,
production on some machines was changed to 4-shift operation so that orders could be completed on
schedule. Orell Füssli Security Printing was thus able to increase the number of notes produced by 12%
compared to the previous year. More than 90% of the banknotes produced were destined for the export
market. In addition to continuing competitive pressure on the international market, the strength of the
Swiss franc relative to the euro and the US dollar had a significant negative impact on sales and earn-
ings. The Security Printing Division reported sales revenues of CHF 85.4 million in 2011 (2010:
CHF99.3 million). Operating earnings were CHF 11.3 million (2010: CHF 13.1 million). In order to
improve its international competitiveness Orell Füssli Security Printing cut overheads by 5% through
a systematic programme of savings without reducing personnel numbers. 

Order books are well filled and capacity utilisation is assured for the first half of 2012. In light of the
expected growth in orders, Orell Füssli has taken the precaution of obtaining permission for 4-shift
working for the next three years. In combination with an annual working hours model, the division
expects to be able to respond flexibly to fluctuations in demand in this way. 
Developments:
Orell Füssli Security Printing continued the marketing efforts which were intensified in the previous
year and gained three new customers on the African continent against strong international competi-
tion. The sales organisation was expanded further, so that Orell Füssli Security Printing now has a
worldwide presence. The technology sector was also reorganised and personnel numbers were
increased in order to boost innovation efforts.
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TwinPerf ®, the new security element developed by Orell Füssli, was launched at the “Banknote
2011” conference in Washington. This is a further development of the traditional MicroPerf feature.

As already announced earlier, production of the new series of Swiss banknotes could not be com-
menced as expected in the fourth quarter of 2011. Following the successful completion of the pilot
production series, unexpected problems arose at a supplier before the start of the production run. The
units involved are working hard to rectify the last-minute problems which have arisen and to com-
mence production. By virtue of the provisions of the underlying contract, this order nevertheless made
a substantial contribution to 2011 results.

Orell Füssli Book Retailing Division
Changes in reading habits and price reductions dictated by the business environment due to the low
euro exchange rate resulted in a 5.1% decline in revenues at Orell Füssli Book Retailing to
CHF113.8million in the year under review (2010: CHF 119.9 million). The number of items sold was
only slightly lower than a year earlier. A sustained shift towards Internet sales and downloads from the
steadily growing range of digital books is apparent in book retailing. A further strong increase in busi-
ness with large customers and growth in online business with private customers in the year under
review was encouraging. Earnings from ongoing businesses were also positive. As a result of substan-
tial value adjustments and provisions for adjustments to the branch network, the division reported a
pre-tax loss of CHF 3.0 million in the year under review. 
Developments:
A total of five unprofitable sales outlets were closed in the year under review. Orell Füssli Book Retail-
ing aims to boost profitability by adjustments to its branch network. However, two new sales outlets
were also opened in 2011. The flagship store in Zurich was expanded and the large bookstore in Win-
terthur was completely refurbished.

In order to take account of the increasing shift of book retailing to the Internet, Orell Füssli compre-
hensively updated its books.ch online shop and increased the financial and personnel resources
devoted to this sales channel. Marketing resources were also substantially increased for storyworld.ch,
the second Internet platform. In the trend-setting e-reading segment the range of e-books in English
was expanded. Orell Füssli provided reader apps for customers with tablet PCs to utilise the e-book
offering.

Orell Füssli Publishing 
Sales revenues at Orell Füssli Publishing Ltd declined by 9.9% in 2011. One important reason for this
was that Swiss booksellers also increasingly ordered books from Swiss publishers in Germany in order
to benefit from the weak euro. This had an adverse impact on the sales trend at many Swiss publishers.
The publication dates of several major legal works also had to be postponed to the following year, and
competition in the textbook sector intensified. Orell Füssli Publishing has been undergoing restructur-
ing since March 2011; this has resulted in significant savings, for example in personnel expenditure,
general administration expenditure and rental costs. The cost of materials was reduced by optimising
purchasing. Net income for the period remained slightly negative.
Developments:
A new cooperative venture in sales and marketing with a well-known German publisher came into
operation at the beginning of 2012, thereby improving market access in Germany and Austria. A major
European provider was selected for producing and marketing e-books.

Various standard works again provided an important economic basis in the year under review, such
as the Swiss Civil Code and Code of Obligations in the legal field or “Fundamentals of Mathematics” in
textbooks. In the non-fiction and children’s book fields Orell Füssli sees opportunities for expanding
its programme and achieving significant sales growth. The authorised biography entitled “Eveline
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group management (at 31 december 2011)

Michel Kunz CEO

Johannes Caprez CFO

Peter Crottogini Head Human Resources

Fabio Amato Head of the Book Retailing Division

Dr. Anton Gasteiger Head of the Security Printing Division

Dr. Matti Schüsseler Head of the Publishing Division

vacant Head of the Atlantic Zeiser Division

Widmer-Schlumpf – Not for Turning” and the children’s books entitled “Globi goes to school “ and
“Pippilothek”, the latter by Lorenz Pauli and prize-winning illustrator Kathrin Schärer, were especially
successful in 2011.

Personnel
Oliver Mehler, CEO of the Atlantic Zeiser Division, relinquished his position by mutual consent in July
2011 and left to set up his own business. The division has been headed ad interim by Group CEO
Michel Kunz and Thomas Obitz, Oliver Mehler’s former deputy. 

Change in the Board of Directors 
Klaus Oesch will retire from the Board of Directors of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd at the Annual General
Meeting to be held on 10 May 2012, upon reaching the stipulated term limit. Klaus Oesch was elected
to the Board of Directors of what was then Orell Füssli Graphische Betriebe in 1992 and headed the
company as Executive Director and CEO. In 2007 he became Chairman of the Board and handed over
responsibility for day-to-day operations. The Board of Directors, the Executive Board and employees
wish to thank Klaus Oesch for his many successful years with the company and his great personal com-
mitment.

Outlook for the divisions and the group 
Orell Füssli foresees a considerable improvement in results in 2012. The Security Printing Division,
which can look forward to high capacity utilisation driven by highly profitable orders, will contribute
in particular to this. Orell Füssli is expecting pressure on prices and margins to ease to some extent due
to the establishment of a minimum euro exchange rate. In book retailing, prices are expected to sta-
bilise, while structural changes will continue with the shift to online sales and e-books. At Atlantic
Zeiser the ongoing restructuring and the associated focus on profitable business under the responsi-
bility of new CEO Manfred Minich (who will take office on 1 May 2012) will create the preconditions
for a turnaround to positive results. 
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1 financial statements of the orell füssli group

1.1 consolidated income statement

in CHF ‘000 NOTES 2011 2010

Net revenues from sales to customers 4.1 / 4.2 285,466 312,651

Other operating income 3,560 4,270

Changes in inventories of semi-finished and finished products, capitalised costs –1,244 2,474

Total operating income 4.3 287,782 319,395

Cost of materials –117,211 –137,106

External production costs –13,053 –17,005

Personnel expenditure 4.4 / 4.5 –88,434 –88,190

Other operating expenses 4.6 –49,287 –47,923

Depreciation and impairment on tangible assets 4.14 –16,031 –15,193

Depreciation and impairment on intangible assets 4.15 –1,358 –743

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 4.1 2,408 13,235

Financial income 975 1,702

Financial expenses –1,638 –1,986

Financial result 4.7 –663 –284

Earnings before income taxes 1,745 12,951

Income tax expenses 4.8 –1,992 –1,973

Net income for the period –247 10,978

Attributable to the shareholders of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd 199 9,454

Attributable to minority interests –446 1,524

in CHF NOTES 2011 2010

Earnings per share 4.9 0.10 4.82

Since the beginning of 2011 the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER.
Prior period figures have been restated to conform to the presentation for the current financial period to ensure comparability.

The disclosures from page 14 to 34 form an integrated part of the financial report.
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1.2 consolidated balance sheet at 31 december

in CHF ‘000 NOTES 2011 2010

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4.10 19,986 29,594

Marketable securities & derivative financial instruments 670 198

Trade accounts receivable 4.11 24,942 30,875

Other receivables 4.12 45,648 21,763

Inventories 4.13 50,126 39,520

Current income tax receivables 4,118 2,870

Accrued income and deferred expenses 3,697 2,648

Total current assets 149,187 127,468

Tangible assets 4.14 / 4.16 89,503 99,780

Intangible assets 4.15 / 4.16 4,228 3,654

Investments 4.17 4,837 4,753

Deferred tax assets 4.23 4,655 4,216

Other non-current financial assets 4.18 5,925 5,886

Total non-current assets 109,148 118,289

Total assets 258,335 245,757

Liabilities

Trade payables 4.19 22,082 22,538

Other current liabilities 4.20 32,813 22,078

Current income tax liabilities 2,499 1,268

Accrued expenses and deferred income 7,616 7,487

Current financial liabilities 4.21 11,145 6,625

Current provisions 4.22 3,979 730

Total current liabilities 80,134 60,726

Non-current financial liabilities 4.21 1,371 1,670

Pension fund liabilities 261 392

Non-current provisions 4.22 1,700 395

Deferred tax liabilities 4.23 2,988 3,438

Total non-current liabilities 6,320 5,895

Share capital 1,960 1,960

Capital reserves 4,160 4,160

Retained earnings 164,286 169,122

Translation differences –13,927 –13,122

Total equity before minority interests 156,479 162,120

Minority interests 15,402 17,016

Total equity 171,881 179,136

Total liabilities 258,335 245,757

Since the beginning of 2011 the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER.
Prior period figures have been restated to conform to the presentation for the current financial period to ensure comparability.

The disclosures from page 14 to 34 form an integrated part of the financial report.
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1.3 consolidated cash flow statement

in CHF ‘000 2011 2010

Net income for the period –247 10,978

Depreciation 15,640 14,963

Impairment and amortisation 1,028 973

Profit from disposal of subsidiaries – –748

Other non-fund related income and expenses 453 –288

Change in trade accounts receivable 5,625 –7,254

Change in inventories –11,079 5,833

Change in other receivables –24,001 15,040

Change in trade payables –350 –6,624

Change in other liabilities 10,976 –21,257

Change in accruals net –1,263 2,358

Change in provisions and deferred income tax 3,959 –1,824

Cash flow from operating activities 741 12,150

Purchase of tangible assets –7,383 –6,828

Proceeds from disposals of tangible assets 1,157 516

Purchase of intangible assets –1,655 –2,525

Proceeds from disposals of intangible assets 2 –

Purchase of investments in subsidiaries –200 –5,003

Proceeds from disposals of investments in subsidiaries – 277

Purchase of other investments –65 –1,541

Proceeds from disposals of other investments 1 –

Purchase of other non-current assets –198 –169

Proceeds from disposals of other non-current assets 155 17,356

Purchase of securities –493 –208

Cash flow from investing activities –8,679 1,875

Increase of financial liabilities 4,791 100

Repayment of financial liabilities –413 –3,242

Dividends paid to minorities –1,044 –1,960

Dividends paid –4,900 –4,900

Cash flow from financing activities –1,566 –10,002

Translation effects –104 –1,365

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents –9,608 2,658

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 29,594 26,936

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 19,986 29,594

Since the beginning of 2011 the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER.
Prior period figures have been restated to conform to the presentation for the current financial period to ensure comparability.

The disclosures from page 14 to 34 form an integrated part of the financial report.
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1.4 consolidated statement of changes in equity

in CHF ‘000 Retained Equity before
Share Capital earnings and Translation minority Minority Total

capital reserves net income differences interests interests equity

Equity at 1 January 2010 according to IFRS 1,960 4,160 169,515 –5,409 170,226 18,018 188,244

Adjustments (refer to note 2.2) – – 163 –86 77 –75 2

Equity at 1 January 2010
according to Swiss GAAP FER 1,960 4,160 169,678 –5,495 170,303 17,943 188,246

Dividends paid – – –4,900 – –4,900 –1,960 –6,860

Decrease of minority interests by sale – – – – – –291 –291

Increase of minority interests by purchase – – – – – 278 278

Offsetting goodwill against equity – – –5,110 – –5,110 – –5,110

Currency translation effects – – – –7,627 –7,627 –478 –8,105

Net income for the period – – 9,454 – 9,454 1,524 10,978

Total equity at 31 December 2010 1,960 4,160 169,122 –13,122 162,120 17,016 179,136

Equity at 1 January 2011 1,960 4,160 169,122 –13,122 162,120 17,016 179,136

Dividends paid – – –4,900 – –4,900 –1,045 –5,945

Buyout of minority interests – – – – – –65 –65

Offsetting goodwill against equity – – –135 – –135 – –135

Currency translation effects – – – –805 –805 –58 –863

Net income for the period – – 199 – 199 –446 –247

Total equity at 31 December 2011 1,960 4,160 164,286 –13,927 156,479 15,402 171,881

The share capital as at 31 December 2011, as well as at 31 December 2010, is comprised in 1,960,000 registered
shares with a par value of CHF 1.– each.

The amount of accumulated non-distributable reserves stands at CHF 6,600,000 (2010: CHF 6,600,000).

Since the beginning of 2011 the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER.
Prior period figures have been restated to conform to the presentation for the current financial period to ensure comparability.

The disclosures from page 14 to 34 form an integrated part of the financial report.
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2 accounting policies

2.1  basis of accounting

The consolidated financial statements for the 2011 financial year have been prepared in conformity with exist-
ing Swiss GAAP FER standards in their entirety, as well as the provisions of the listing regulations of the SIX Swiss
Exchange and Swiss company law.

The consolidated financial statements are based on the principle of historical costs and are prepared on the
assumption that the company is a going concern.

2.2  conversion from ifrs to swiss gaap fer

The change in accounting standards from International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) to Swiss GAAP
FER for the 2011 consolidated financial statements was communicated in an announcement to investors on
12 April 2011, and at the Annual General Meeting on 10 May 2011. The relevant amendment of the Articles of
Association will be proposed to the Annual General Meeting to be held on 10 May 2012.

The main reason for changing from IFRS to Swiss GAAP FER is the growing complexity and intricacy of the
detailed rules and disclosure requirements of IFRS. It is expected that this development will continue to inten-
sify and that the cost-benefit ratio will become increasingly unfavourable. The Orell Füssli Group is convinced
that Swiss GAAP FER provides a comprehensive and sound alternative which is appropriate to the company’s size
and business activities. By focusing on the essentials, Swiss GAAP FER is less complex and more practicable in use. 

The accounting policies and presentation according to Swiss GAAP FER applied to the consolidated financial
statements for 2011 deviate from the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 in
accordance with IFRS, with the significant changes summarised below:

At the date of acquisition, goodwill from acquisitions are fully offset with retained earnings equity according
to the treatment allowed by Swiss GAAP FER standard 30 “Consolidated financial statements”. According to IFRS,
goodwill from acquisitions was capitalised and tested annually for impairment.

According to Swiss GAAP FER standard 16 “Pension benefit obligations”, the existing economic obligations and
respective benefits relating to Swiss pension schemes are measured based on the Swiss pension plan financial
statements prepared in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER standard 26 “Accounting of pension plans”. The
expected economic impact of pension schemes of foreign subsidiaries is measured according to the valuation
methods applied locally. Employer contribution reserves and comparable items are recognised in the balance sheet
if the respective requirements according to Swiss GAAP FER standard 16 are met. According to IFRS, defined
benefit plans were measured using the projected unit credit method and recognised in accordance with IAS 19.

Securities are classified as current assets, measured unchanged at current market values with unrealised gains
and losses recognised in the income statement. Since Orell Füssli enters into forward exchange contracts only in
order to hedge future cash flow, these can according to Swiss GAAP FER standard 27 “Derivative Financial Instru-
ments” be disclosed in the notes and do not have to be posted to the income statement or shareholders’ equity.

Advance payments by customers are offset against progress on the contract insofar as this is compatible with
Swiss GAAP FER. No such set-offs were made under IFRS.

The above-mentioned changes in valuation and recognition of assets and liabilities result in corresponding
deferred income tax effects in the balance sheet and income statement.

Investment property and assets held for sale are included in property, plant and equipment and not classified
separately.

Under IFRS a liability for buying out a minority interest must be posted to non-current liabilities. Under Swiss
GAAP FER this is only included in the notes under “Contingent liabilities and other liabilities not stated in the
balance sheet”.

Prior period figures have been restated to conform to the presentation for the current financial period to ensure
comparability.
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The following schedules illustrate the effects of the conversion from IFRS to Swiss GAAP FER on equity and
net result:

effects on the balance sheet of the change in accounting policies

in CHF ‘000 31.12.2010 01.01.2010

Equity according to IFRS 185,052 188,244

Adjustments on conversion to Swiss GAAP FER

Charge-offs under IAS 19 –5,362 –4,805

Employer contribution reserves 4,068 4,568

Offsetting goodwill SOFHA GmbH –5,563 –

Reversal of liability for purchase option of minority interests 1,010 –

Currency hedging transactions on current orders –904 222

Changes in deferred tax assets / liabilities 835 17

Total adjustments to equity –5,916 2

Equity according to Swiss GAAP FER 179,136 188,246

effects on the income statement of the change in accounting policies

in CHF ‘000 2010

Net income for the period according to IFRS 12,105

Adjustments on conversion to Swiss GAAP FER

Personnel expenditure due to reversal of employer contribution reserves –500

Write-back relief under IAS 19 –557

Write-back depreciation on intangible assets of SOFHA GmbH 1,114

Write-back market valuation on forward contracts –1,127

Change in deferred income tax –57

Total adjustments to the consolidated income statement –1,127

Net income for the period according to Swiss GAAP FER 10,978

2.3  consolidation

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all domestic and foreign entities if they are directly or indirectly controlled by Orell Füssli
Holding Ltd, the latter holding more than 50% of the votes or being able to control financial and operating 
policies in any other ways.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which the direct or indirect control passes to Orell Füssli
Holding Ltd. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. The purchase method is used to account
for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. On the acquisition date all identifiable assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary are measured at fair value. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share
in the net assets of the subsidiary acquired is recorded as goodwill.

Effects on inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group compa-
nies are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.

Investments in associates
Investments in associates in which Orell Füssli Holding Ltd can exercise significant influence, are accounted for
using the equity method. Influence is considered as significant if Orell Füssli Holding Ltd directly or indirectly
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights or can otherwise significantly influence financial and operating
policies.

Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost. Cost may include goodwill. The book value of the
investment is subsequently adjusted according to the Group’s share part of the associate’s equity.

Other investments 
Holdings of less than 20% of voting rights are stated at the lower of cost or market value.
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2.4  currency translation

The items included in the financial statements of each Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the pri-
mary economic environment in which the Group operates (the “functional currency”). Foreign currency trans-
actions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing on the date of transaction.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Swiss Francs. On preparation of the consolidated finan-
cial statements, assets and liabilities of subsidiaries in foreign currencies are converted into Swiss Francs at the
closing rate of each balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average currency exchange rate
of the financial year. Translation differences and foreign currency gains on long-term loans in the nature of share-
holders’ equity are posted under currency differences in shareholders’ equity, without any impact on income.
The Orell Füssli Group used the following currency exchange rates for the financial year 2011 and 2010:

currency exchange rates

Closing rate Annual average rate

2011 2010 2011 2010

EUR at a rate of CHF 1.2171 1.2468 1.2336 1.3833

USD at a rate of CHF 0.9399 0.9408 0.8870 1.0433

GBP at a rate of CHF 1.4526 1.4554 1.4221 1.6112

2.5  critical accounting estimates and judgments

Preparation of the annual financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions affect-
ing income, expenses, assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities stated on balance sheet date. If estimates and
assumptions of this kind, which were made by management on balance sheet date to the best of their knowledge,
differ from actual conditions at a later date, the original estimates and assumptions are amended in the reporting
period in which the conditions have changed.

2.6  segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products and services that are sub-
ject to risk and returns different from those of other business segments. The Group’s business activities are cate-
gorised into three segments: Industrial Systems, Security Printing and Book Retailing. Other business activities
include the publishing units as well as infrastructure services. Their size is not material. Information about prod-
ucts and services of each business segment are provided in 4.1 of the notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments.

2.7  revenue recognition

Revenue from sales of tradable, produced and printed goods are recorded as income after their delivery and their
acceptance by the client. Revenue is shown net of value-added-tax and any rebates. 

Revenue from construction contracts is recognised using the percentage-of-completion method in order to
record the portion of total sales for the reporting period.

Revenue from services, which are rendered for a certain period of time and which are invoiced periodically, is
recorded in the period in which the service is rendered. Revenue for settling transaction-related services is
recorded at the time the service is fully rendered.

Dividend income is recorded in the reporting period in which the right to receive payments is established.

2.8  impairment

Tangible and intangible assets are assessed for impairment. Such assessment occurs on the basis of events of
changes of circumstances which indicate that the value of an asset may be impaired. If such indications exist, the
recoverable amount will be determined. An impairment loss results, if the book value exceeds the recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher value of either the fair value less selling costs or the present value
of expected future cash flows. The impairment is recorded in the income statement. For the purpose of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which separate cash flows can be identified. 
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2.9  income taxes

Income taxes are recorded on the basis of the applicable tax rate of the individual countries and expensed in the
period in which they occur. Tax effects resulting from tax losses are recognised as deferred tax assets if it is prob-
able that future taxable profit will be available against which the tax losses could be used.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet based upon temporary differences between tax base
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amount if they will result in future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets
are recognised in the balance sheet based upon temporary differences if they will result in deductible amounts in
determining taxable profits, provided that taxable profits will be available in future periods for which the tempo-
rary difference can be used.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset will be realised or the liability will be settled.

Current tax liabilities and receivables can be offset against each other provided they refer to the same taxable
unit, the same tax authority and if there is a legally enforceable right to offset them. Deferred tax liabilities and
receivables can be offset against each other if the same circumstances apply.

Current and deferred taxes are recorded in the income statement as tax income or expense.

2.10  cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, cash in banks and short-term fixed deposits with a contractual
maturity period of three months or less.

2.11  marketable securities and derivative financial instruments

Marketable securities are initially valued at cost plus transaction costs. All purchases and sales are posted on trade
date. Thereafter marketable securities are included in current assets and marked to market in the income state-
ment. 

Derivative financial instruments used to hedge underlying transactions against future cash flow which do not
yet have an impact on the balance sheet are not included in the balance sheet, but are stated in the notes. The Orell
Füssli Group uses no other derivative financial instruments. 

2.12  trade accounts receivable and other current accounts receivable

Trade accounts receivable and other current accounts receivable are measured at amortised cost less any impair-
ments. Specific charges are made for doubtful accounts receivable, which are measured in terms of expected losses
based on empirical values.

An increase of the provision for doubtful accounts receivable will be recognised as other operating expense in
the income statement, while any recovery of such provision will result in a decrease of the operational expense
accordingly.

2.13  construction contracts

Manufacturing contracts are long-term orders with a timeframe of at least three months and a contract volume of
at least CHF 500,000, which are usually governed by a contract for work and services. Manufacturing contracts
are recognised using the percentage of completion method (PoC). The PoC method measures the stage of com-
pletion of the contract activity in percentages; this allows the determination of revenue for the reporting period
and to recognise it as a receivable. Each business unit uses different calculation methods that are based on the
completed quantity of a production lot and/or on the portion of the production stages carried out. Expected losses
on construction contracts are immediately recognised as an expense.

Advance payments for manufacturing contracts are recorded without any impact on income. If no restitution
can be claimed, advance payments are offset against the manufacturing contract for which they have been made.

2.14  inventories

Inventories include raw materials, auxiliary material and supplies, semi-finished products, finished products and
trading goods. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined on the basis of
the weighted average cost calculation. The cost of semi-finished and finished products contains direct production
costs including materials and manufacturing costs, as well as overhead costs. The net realisable value is the esti-
mated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the production and distribution costs. For the net real-
isable value of finished products, the range of coverage analyses is used, and for produced books the year of their
publication. Discounts deducted are treated as reductions in costs.

2.15  financial assets

Demand and time deposits maturing in more than 90 days with third parties as well as loans are defined as 
current and non-current financial assets. They are measured at face values less any provisions.
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2.16  tangible assets

Tangible assets comprise machinery, technical installations, moveable property, leasehold improvements, vehi-
cles, IT and systems, property, buildings, investment property and fixed facilities.

Tangible assets are initially measured at cost. Costs include the purchase price of the tangible asset plus directly
related costs which occur for bringing the asset to the location and in condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.

Tangible assets are subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method over the period of their useful life.
Land property is not depreciated. The period of depreciation may be adjusted according to operational necessity.
Depreciation begins once the tangible asset is ready for use. The estimated useful lives of each fixed asset category
are as follows:

estimated useful live of each fixed asset category

in years Estimated
useful lives

Machinery and technical installations 5–10

Buildings 30–40

Fixed facilities in production premises and own properties 30–40

Fixed facilities in commercial premises 12–15

Movable property, leasehold improvements, vehicles 4–10

IT and systems 3–5

Buildings under construction are fixed assets which are not yet finished or not yet operational. They are measured
at accumulated costs and are not depreciated.

Replacement investments and improvements of tangible assets are recognised in the balance sheet if additional
economic use is likely.

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance of buildings and technical installations are recorded as expenses in
the income statement when they occur.

2.17  intangible assets

Rights, licences and software are defined as intangible assets. They are measured at cost of acquisition/manufac-
ture less accumulated depreciation and impairment. The cost of acquisition of rights, licences and software com-
prises the purchase price plus directly attributable costs. The cost of internally developed software is recognised
if certain criteria such as technical feasibility and adequate resources are fulfilled, if the company intends to com-
plete development of the software, to use it or sell it, if financial benefits are likely to accrue to the company from
it in future and if the costs can be measured reliably. Rights, licences and software are amortised using the straight-
line method over the contractually agreed duration. Software developed in-house is amortised using the straight-
line method over a maximum period of three years.

2.18  goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the identifiable net assets of a company
acquired by the Orell Füssli Group on the date of acquisition. Goodwill arising from acquisitions is offset against
consolidated shareholders’ equity on the date of acquisition. The impact of theoretical capitalisation and amorti-
sation of goodwill is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. Negative goodwill is recog-
nised directly in shareholders’ equity as a capital reserve.

2.19  trade accounts payable

Trade accounts payable are recognised at face value.

2.20  dividend distribution

Shareholder’s claims to dividend distribution are recorded as liability in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the company’s shareholders.

2.21  financial liabilities

Financial liabilities comprise borrowings, finance lease liabilities and other financial liabilities. Initially, financial
liabilities are measured at fair value net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently, they are stated at amor-
tised costs; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised
in the income statement over the period of the liability using the effective yield method.

Financial liabilities are classified as current unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer the settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months.
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2.22  leases

Leases of assets, in which substantially all the risk and rewards incidental to ownership are transferred to the les-
see are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are initially recognised in the balance sheet at the lower of fair
value of the leased asset or the present value of the minimal lease payments. The leased asset is depreciated over
the useful life of the lease term, whichever is shorter. The corresponding financial obligations are recorded as
liabilities.

Leases of assets, in which substantially all risks and reward incidental to ownership are effectively held and use
by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Lease payments under an operational lease are recorded in the
income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

2.23 employee benefits

Group companies’ retirement benefit schemes are included in the consolidated financial statements according to
the legal provisions in effect in the relevant countries. Any actual financial impact of pension plans on the Group
is calculated on balance sheet date. Any financial benefit is carried as an asset if it is used for the company’s future
pension expenses. A financial commitment is carried as a liability if the requirements for making a provision are
met. Any freely available employer’s contribution reserves are recognised as an asset.

The Group’s Swiss subsidiaries have a legally independent retirement benefit scheme funded by employer’s
and employees’ contributions. The financial consequences for the Group of pension fund surpluses and deficits
as well as changes in any employer’s contribution reserves are taken to income as personnel expenses alongside
deferred contributions for the period. Any surpluses or deficits are calculated on the basis of the pension fund’s
provisional annual financial statements under Swiss GAAP FER 26. 

Foreign pension plans are of secondary importance. Certain foreign subsidiaries have pension plans without
independent assets and include the corresponding pension provision directly in the balance sheet. Pension pro-
visions are calculated according to nationally recognised methods, and changes are taken to income as personnel
expenses.

2.24  provisions

Provisions are recognised if the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it
is probable that a cash outflow will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. No provisions are recorded for future operational losses.

If the effect of the time value of money is significant, provisions are determined by discounting future cash
flows.

2.25  share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as part of the shareholders’ equity. When the Group purchases Orell Füssli Hold-
ing Ltd shares (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any direct attributable incremental costs, is
deducted from equity. If treasury shares are subsequently sold or issued, any consideration is included in equity.

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority interests as transactions with treasury shares.
Therefore consideration paid for purchases of minority interests as well as consideration received from sales of
minority interests are recorded in equity. Any differences between consideration received/paid and minority
interests presented in the balance sheet are recorded in equity (economic entity model).



r isk m a nage me n t

20 fina nci a l r eport 2011or ell füssli

3 risk management

3.1  financial risk management

The Orell Füssli Group is active worldwide and therefore exposed to various financial risks, such as currency,
interest rate, credit and liquidity risks.

In addition to risk management in general, financial risk management at the Orell Füssli Group focuses on the
unpredictability of financial market trends and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the group’s finan-
cial performance. This can also include the occasional use of derivative financial instruments for economical hedg-
ing of financial risks.

3.2  currency risk

The Orell Füssli Group does not engage in business transactions in currencies which are highly volatile or must
otherwise be regarded as particularly risky. In the case of substantial orders with a lead time of more than three
months, the risk of currency fluctuations is assessed by the Finance Department and if necessary hedged by means
of financial instruments.

3.3  interest rate risk

As the Orell Füssli Group has no significant interest-bearing assets, both income and operating cash flow are
largely unaffected by changes in market interest rates.

Non-current, interest-bearing borrowings at variable rates expose the group to cash flow interest rate risk,
while fixed-rate borrowings represent a fair value interest rate risk.

Management policy is to maintain approximately 80% of its borrowings in fixed-rate instruments. In princi-
ple, no interest-rate hedging transactions are entered into.

The Orell Füssli Group had no material borrowings in its balance sheet on 31 December 2011.

3.4  credit risk

Credit risks can arise on cash and cash equivalents, credit balances with financial institutions and receivables from
customers. Risks are minimised by utilising various financial service providers rather than a single banking insti-
tution.

In light of the differing customer structure of the divisions, no general credit limits are applied throughout the
group, but customers’ credit-worthiness is systematically assessed by each division, also taking into account the
financial situation, past experience and/or other factors. Material business activities in the international envi-
ronment are usually secured by bank guarantees or letters of credit.

Management does not expect any material losses on its inventory of receivables.

3.5  liquidity risk

The Orell Füssli Group monitors its liquidity risk through prudent liquidity management, pursuing the princi-
ple of maintaining a liquidity reserve in excess of daily and monthly requirements for operating funds. This
includes holding sufficient reserves of cash and cash equivalents, the availability of funding through an adequate
amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to make issues on the market. Rolling liquidity planning is
therefore conducted on the basis of expected cash flows and is regularly updated. It has to be borne in mind that
different divisions customarily hold higher liquidity reserves at year-end due to the seasonal nature of their busi-
ness, and these are reduced again in the following quarter. Average liquidity reserves are usually much lower than
those held at year-end.

Available liquidity on balance sheet date was as follows: 

liquidity reserves and credit facilities

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2011 2010

Liquidity reserves 20,656 29,792

Committed credit facilities 72,299 73,031

./. rental guarantees –3,365 –3,730

./. utilised credit facilities –11,636 –6,887

Total liquidity reserves and non-utilised credit facilities 77,954 92,206

As well as committed credit facilities on the same order of magnitude in local currencies, sufficient funds should
also be available to conduct ordinary business activities in future.

If additional liquidity is required for significant investments in non-current assets and expenditure on future
acquisitions, an adjustment of credit facilities may be considered.
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3.6  capital risk

In managing capital, the Orell Füssli Group seeks in particular to safeguard the group’s ability to continue oper-
ating as a going concern and to optimise the balance sheet structure having due regard for the cost of capital.

The Orell Füssli Group monitors the capital structure on the basis of the net gearing ratio, i.e. net debt as a pro-
portion of total capital, expressed in percent. Net debt is calculated as the total of interest-bearing liabilities, trade
accounts payable, prepayments by customers and other current liabilities, less cash and cash equivalents. Total
capital is calculated as shareholders’ equity as shown in the consolidated balance sheet, plus net debt.

The net gearing ratio on the relevant balance sheet dates was as follows:

net gearing ratio

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2011 2010

Total financial liabilities 12,516 8,295

+ trade payables 22,082 22,538

+ prepayments from customers 41,021 26,204

+ other current liabilities 5,806 6,771

./. cash and cash equivalents –19,986 –29,594

Net indebtedness 61,439 34,214

Total equity 171,881 179,136

Total capital 233,320 213,350

Net gearing ratio 26% 16%
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4 notes to the consolidated financial statements

4.1  segment reporting by business units

The business activities of the Orell Füssli Group are organised into three main segments, which provide the basis
for regular internal segmental reporting. Segmental reporting provides information on sales revenues and oper-
ating earnings (EBIT).

Industrial Systems
Production and marketing of machineries and systems for encoding and personalisation of any printable products.

Security Printing
Production and marketing of banknotes, security documents, passports and further documents with high and
highest security requirements.

Book Retailing
Sale of books and similar products in numerous bookstores of the German-speaking part of Switzerland and on
the Internet (www.books.ch and www.storyworld.ch). 

Other business activities 
This segment consists primarily of the publishing business and also includes infrastructure services, which are
not sufficiently material to be disclosed separately in segmental reporting.

Financial results and income tax expenses are unallocated, since these items are managed at group level rather
than by individual business segment, as well as results of associates. Consolidation effects arising from inter-seg-
mental expenditure and income are also excluded from this item.

segment results 2011

in CHF ‘000 Industrial Security Book Total Total
Systems Printing Retailing Other segments Unallocated Group

Net revenues from segment sales 74,588 85,402 113,764 11,712 285,466 – 285,466

Inter-segment sales 1,164 – 4 –15 1,153 –1,153 –

Net revenues from sales to customers 75,752 85,402 113,768 11,697 286,619 –1,153 285,466

Earnings before interest
and taxes (EBIT) –4,935 12,272 –3,456 –513 3,368 –960 2,408

segment results 2010

in CHF ‘000 Industrial Security Book Total Total
Systems Printing Retailing Other segments Unallocated Group

Net revenues from segment sales 78,842 99,275 119,858 14,676 312,651 – 312,651

Inter-segment sales 309 – 3 27 339 –339 –

Net revenues from sales to customers 79,151 99,275 119,861 14,703 312,990 –339 312,651

Earnings before interest
and taxes (EBIT) 212 13,075 1,653 –374 14,566 –1,331 13,235
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4.2  net revenues from sales and services by countries and regions

Industrial Systems and Security Printing are the two business units whose customer relations exist worldwide
without any geographic market specifications. The business segment Book Retailing and other activities find their
customers mainly in Switzerland and the neighbouring countries.

Net revenues from sales and services are generated in the following regions:

net revenues from sales to customers by region

in CHF ‘000 2011 2010

Switzerland 170,824 186,741

Germany 12,598 13,175

The rest of Europe and Africa 50,520 48,413

North and South America 11,384 21,663

Asia and Oceania 40,140 42,659

Total net revenues from sales to customers by region 285,466 312,651

Total sales are allocated based on the country in which the customer is located.

4.3  operating income

in CHF ‘000 2011 2010

Sales of goods and products 282,905 310,431

Revenues from license fees 2,561 2,220

Rental income from operating leases 619 570

Gain from sales of non-current assets 149 492

Other income 2,792 3,208

Changes in inventories of semi-finished and finished products –1,244 2,441

Capitalised costs – 33

Total operating income 287,782 319,395

The “Sales of goods and products” item includes revenue from construction contracts based on PoC of
CHF 49,472,000 in the 2011 financial year (2010: CHF 12,656,000).

4.4  personnel expenditure

in CHF ‘000 2011 2010

Wages and salaries 71,792 74,290

Social security costs 4,027 5,579

Pension costs 4,623 4,648

Other personnel expenditure 7,992 3,673

Total personnel expenditure 88,434 88,190
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4.5  pension funds

The Orell Füssli Foundation has used the new 2010 BVG mortality table since 2011 (2010: EK 2000). The actu-
arial interest rate as from 1 January 2011, is 3.0% (2010: 3.5%).

employer contribution reserves

in CHF ‘000 Result from Result from
ECR in ECR in

Nominal value Waiver Additions/ Balance Balance personnel personnel
ECR of usage Adjustments Reversals sheet sheet expenditure expenditure

31.12.2011 31.12.2011 31.12.2011 2011 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 2011 2010

Pension schemes without funding
surplus / deficit (Switzerland) 3,623 – – –445 3,623 4,068 –445 –500

financial benefit/liability and pension costs

in CHF ‘000 Funding Translation Change to
surplus/deficit differences prior year

according to Economic Economic with no impact or charged Contributions Pension costs Pension costs
Swiss GAAP benefit/obli- benefit/obli- on the income to income limited to the in personnel in personnel

FER 26 gation Group gation Group statement statement period expenditure expenditure

31.12.2011 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 2011 31.12.2011 31.12.2011 2011 2010

Pension schemes without funding
surplus / deficit (Switzerland) – – – – – 2,833 2,833 2,921

Unfunded pension
schemes (abroad) – – – – – – 1,790 1,727

Total – – – – – 2,833 4,623 4,648

4.6 other operating expenses

in CHF ‘000 2011 2010

Marketing and distribution expenses 13,847 13,545

Operating lease expenses 14,916 12,753

Repairs and maintenance 5,217 4,621

Administration expenses 7,382 6,672

Losses on bad debts 253 423

Losses from sales of fixed assets 4 194

Losses from sales of subsidiaries – 2

Impairment loss on investments and loan assets 203 –

Impairment gain on investments and loan assets –924 –

Other operating expenses 8,389 9,713

Total other operating expenses 49,287 47,923

In 2007 the minority interest in a company and a loan made to it for purposes of product development in secu-
rity printing were written down. The market readiness of the technology was confirmed in the 2011 financial
year. Firm orders have now been received which will generate income and significantly improve the situation of
the company in question in terms of earnings and shareholders’ equity. The value adjustments to the minority
interest and the loan were therefore reversed in full and the relevant amount credited to the income statement for
the period
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4.7  financial result

in CHF ‘000 Expenses Income Balance 2011 Expenses Income Balance 2010

Interest income and expenses

Bank borrowings –542 329 –213 –702 1,012 310

Finance lease liabilities –124 – –124 –171 – –171

Total interest income and expenses –666 329 –337 –873 1,012 139

Other financial income and expenses

Dividend income – 169 169 – 214 214

Share of profit/(loss) of associates – – – –60 – –60

Net gains (losses) from foreign exchange differences –712 477 –235 –595 476 –119

Bank charges and other finance cost –260 – –260 –458 – –458

Total other financial income and expenses –972 646 –326 –1,113 690 –423

Total financial result –1,638 975 –663 –1,986 1,702 –284

4.8  income tax expenses

in CHF ‘000 2011 2010

Current income tax 2,958 4,432

Deferred income tax –966 –2,459

Total income tax expenses 1,992 1,973

4.9  earnings per share

at 31 December 2011 2010

Net income for the period in CHF ‘000 199 9,454

Weighted average numbers of shares in issue (in thousands) 1,960 1,960

Earnings per share in CHF 0.10 4.82

There were no dilution effects either in 2011 or in 2010.

4.10  cash and cash equivalents

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2011 2010

Cash at bank accounts and in hand 19,049 28,953

Short-term bank deposits 937 641

Total cash and cash equivalents 19,986 29,594

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, the fund “cash and cash equivalents” encompassed liquid assets. 
Current account credits were not part of the fund “cash and cash equivalents”.
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4.11  trade accounts receivable

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2011 2010

Trade accounts receivable gross 26,658 32,697

./. provisions for doubtful trade accounts receivable –1,716 –1,822

Total trade accounts receivable net 24,942 30,875

Provisions for doubtful trade accounts receivable are based not only on decisions by individual judgment taking
into account the different customer structure in each division, but also on updated information about past expe-
rience. The loss was included in the income statement as “other operating expenses”.

provision for doubtful trade accounts receivable

in CHF ‘000 2011 2010

At 1 January –1,822 –1,825

Increase in provisions for doubtful trade accounts receivable –632 –647

Utilisation of provisions 332 128

Reversal of provisions 380 223

Exchange differences 26 299

At 31 December –1,716 –1,822

In the 2011 financial year, certain European subsidiaries of the Group forfeited receivables in an amount of
CHF 948,000 (2010: CHF 2,152,000).

4.12  other receivables

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2011 2010

Construction contracts gross 49,565 21,219

./. deductible customer advances received –14,014 –10,897

Total construction contracts net 35,551 10,322

Prepayments to suppliers 3,578 609

Receivables from associates 56 44

Receivables from shareholders 2,617 6,279

Receivables from other related parties 318 75

Current financial assets 338 228

Other receivables 3,190 4,206

Total other receivables 45,648 21,763

4.13  inventories

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2011 2010

Raw materials, auxiliary materials and supplies 27,196 14,121

Semi-finished and finished products 6,694 7,892

Trading goods 18,695 19,665

Work-in-progress 10,861 13,345

Total inventories gross 63,446 55,023

./. allowance on inventories –13,320 –15,503

Total inventories net 50,126 39,520



not es to t he consolidat ed fina nci a l stat e me n ts

fina nci a l r eport 2011 27or ell füssli

4.14  tangible assets in 2011

in CHF ‘000 Developed Machinery
property Undeveloped Investment and technical Other Assets under Total

and buildings property property installations tangible assets construction 2011

Cost at 1 January 96,084 374 307 114,576 39,149 1,503 251,993

Additions 213 – – 1,627 1,031 4,512 7,383

Disposals –675 – – –2,031 –1,865 –84 –4,655

Reclassification –394 – – –1,612 5,849 –5,589 –1,746

Exchange differences –323 –9 –1 –171 –338 –3 –845

Cost at 31 December 94,905 365 306 112,389 43,826 339 252,130

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
at 1 January –57,100 – –252 –69,751 –25,110 – –152,213

Depreciation on disposals 911 – – 1,666 1,005 57 3,639

Depreciation –3,614 – –15 –6,628 –4,028 – –14,285

Impairment 91 – – –12 –1,768 –57 –1,746

Reclassification 747 – – 1,260 –567 – 1,440

Exchange differences 139 – 1 123 275 – 538

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
at 31 December –58,826 – –266 –73,342 –30,193 – –162,627

Net book value at 1 January 38,984 374 55 44,825 14,039 1,503 99,780

Net book value at 31 December 36,079 365 40 39,047 13,633 339 89,503

Net book value of tangible assets
under finance lease 2,804 – – – – – 2,804

tangible assets in 2010

in CHF ‘000 Developed Machinery
property Undeveloped Investment and technical Other Assets under Total

and buildings property property installations tangible assets construction 2010

Cost at 1 January 102,328 446 349 114,291 45,291 1,133 263,838

Change in scope of consolidation 41 – – 68 –536 – –427

Additions 466 – – 3,141 912 2,560 7,079

Disposals –5,033 – – –2,309 –4,218 – –11,560

Reclassification 1,272 – – 726 346 –2,174 170

Exchange differences –2,990 –72 –42 –1,341 –2,646 –16 –7,107

Cost at 31 December 96,084 374 307 114,576 39,149 1,503 251,993

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
at 1 January –59,019 – –268 –66,276 –27,361 2 –152,922

Change in scope of consolidation –23 – – –5 353 – 325

Depreciation on disposals 5,031 – – 2,283 4,028 – 11,342

Depreciation –3,500 – –17 –6,368 –4,335 – –14,220

Impairment –973 – – – – – –973

Reclassification – – – –406 112 –2 –296

Exchange differences 1,384 – 33 1,021 2,093 – 4,531

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
at 31 December –57,100 – –252 –69,751 –25,110 – –152,213

Net book value at 1 January 43,309 446 81 48,015 17,930 1,135 110,916

Net book value at 31 December 38,984 374 55 44,825 14,039 1,503 99,780

Net book value of tangible assets
under finance lease 2,854 – – – 9 – 2,863
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4.15  intangiable assets in 2011

in CHF ‘000 Software and Rights and Other in- Total
developments licenses tangible assets 2011

Cost at 1 January 5,753 455 2,470 8,678

Additions 821 – 834 1,655

Disposals –521 – – –521

Reclassification 3,597 – –1,851 1,746

Exchange differences –83 –6 –19 –108

Cost at 31 December 9,567 449 1,434 11,450

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 1 January –3,992 –322 –710 –5,024

Depreciation on disposals 523 – – 523

Depreciation –1,300 –53 –3 –1,356

Impairment –2 – – –2

Reclassification –1,440 – – –1,440

Exchange differences 55 5 17 77

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 31 December –6,156 –370 –696 –7,222

Net book value at 1 January 1,761 133 1,760 3,654

Net book value at 31 December 3,411 79 738 4,228

intangible assets in 2010

in CHF ‘000 Software and Rights and Other in- Total
developments licenses tangible assets 2010

Cost at 1 January 5,631 1,815 850 8,296

Change in scope of consolidation –16 205 – 189

Additions 693 74 1,758 2,525

Disposals –89 –1,610 – –1,699

Reclassification 126 – – 126

Exchange differences –592 –29 –138 –759

Cost at 31 December 5,753 455 2,470 8,678

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 1 January –3,762 –1,705 –845 –6,312

Change in scope of consolidation –3 –205 – –208

Depreciation on disposals 89 1,610 – 1,699

Depreciation –697 –44 –2 –743

Exchange differences 381 22 137 540

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 31 December –3,992 –322 –710 –5,024

Net book value at 1 January 1,869 110 5 1,984

Net book value at 31 December 1,761 133 1,760 3,654
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4.16  further details on tangible und intangible assets

The following changes occurred in insurance values and commitments to purchase tangible assets:

further details on tangible assets

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2011 2010

Insurance value 295,561 284,523

Committments for purchases of property, plant and other equipment 1,640 1,560

The assets were examined for any evidence of impairment on balance sheet date and necessary provisions were
made. Impairments to other tangible assets relate to interior fittings and furnishings of outlets already closed or
earmarked for closure.

Bank borrowings are secured on land and buildings for the value of CHF 71,000 (2010: CHF 204,000). Lease
rentals amounting to CHF 14,077,000 (2010: CHF 11,907,000), while CHF 839,000 (2010: CHF 845,000) are
related to other leased tangible assets. 

4.17  investments

At 31 December the Orell Füssli Group holds the following investments:

investments

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2011 2010

Photoglob Ltd (34 %) 343 343

Travel Book Shop Ltd (35 %) – 35

Bider & Tanner Ltd (25 %) 1,200 1,200

Orell Füssli Kartographie Ltd (24 %) 150 270

Total investments in associates 1,693 1,848

Participation in cooperative Schweizer Buchzentrum 2,110 2,110

Other investments 1,034 795

Total investments 4,837 4,753

4.18  other non-current financial assets

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2011 2010

Loan assets 1,300 755

Pension fund assets 3,623 4,068

Other non-current financial assets 1,002 1,063

Total other non-current financial assets 5,925 5,886

4.19  trade payables

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2011 2010

Trade payables to third parties 21,160 22,277

Trade payables to other related parties 922 261

Total trade payables 22,082 22,538

4.20  other current liabilities

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2011 2010

Prepayments from customers on construction contracts gross 17,932 17,619

./. deductible customer advances received –14,014 –10,897

Prepayments from customers on construction contracts net 3,918 6,722

Prepayments from customers 23,089 8,585

Liabilities to employees 1,829 1,689

VAT and similar taxes payable 501 1,172

Dividends payable 4 6

Other current payables 3,472 3,904

Total other current liabilities 32,813 22,078
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4.21  financial liabilities

The book values of financial liabilities have the following maturities:

maturities of financial liabilities

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December From Liabilities from Total From Liabilities from Total
borrowings finance lease 2011 borrowings finance lease 2010

Current financial liabilities 10,885 260 11,145 6,340 285 6,625

Non-current financial liabilities 100 1,271 1,371 99 1,571 1,670

Total financial liabilities 10,985 1,531 12,516 6,439 1,856 8,295

Interest expenditure from finance lease liabilities was in an amount of CHF 124,000 (2010: CHF 171,000).
No secured liabilities are included in the 2011 or 2010 financial liabilities. Finance lease liabilities are secured

effectively as the rights to the lease asset revert to the lessor in the event of a breach of contract.

4.22  provisions

Provisions are considered for restructuring, warranties, outstanding commissions and projects that need to be fin-
ished. 
The Board of Directors approved action to reduce fixed costs at Atlantic Zeiser GmbH and charged restructuring
provisions to the year under review for this purpose. Further provisions were made for current and planned
adjustments to the branch network of Orell Füssli Buchhandlungs Ltd.

Warranty provisions are made in connection with services rendered and are based on local legislation or con-
tractual agreements. The provisions are calculated on the basis of empirical figures. 

No provision was made for legal claims either in 2011 or 2010.

movement in provisions 2011

in CHF ‘000 Provisions for Provisions for Warranty Other Total
legal claims restructuring provisions provisions 2011

At 1 January – 18 401 706 1,125

Additions (charged to income statement) – 4,499 562 – 5,061

Reversals (charged to income statement) – –4 –53 –60 –117

Utilisation during the year – – –343 – –343

Exchange differences – –31 –13 –3 –47

At 31 December – 4,482 554 643 5,679

Provisions mature within 12 months – 3,164 554 261 3,979

Provisions mature over 1 year – 1,318 – 382 1,700

movement in provisions 2010

in CHF ‘000 Provisions for Provisions for Warranty Other Total
legal claims restructuring provisions provisions 2010

At 1 January – 22 246 600 868

Change in scope of consolidation – – 212 – 212

Additions (charged to income statement) – – 233 173 406

Reversals (charged to income statement) – – –61 – –61

Utilisation during the year – –4 –168 –50 –222

Exchange differences – – –61 –17 –78

At 31 December – 18 401 706 1,125

Provisions mature within 12 months – 5 401 324 730

Provisions mature over 1 year – 13 – 382 395
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4.23  deferred income tax

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities were as follows:

deferred income tax assets and liabilities

in CHF ‘000 Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
tax assets tax liabilities Balance 2011 tax assets tax liabilities Balance 2010

At 1 January according to IFRS 2,902 –4,226 –1,324

Adjustments on conversion to Swiss GAAP FER – 17 17

At 1 January according to Swiss GAAP FER 4,216 –3,438 778 2,902 –4,209 –1,307

Charges to income statement 536 430 966 1,314 1,145 2,459

Exchange differences –97 20 –77 – –374 –374

At 31 December according to Swiss GAAP FER 4,655 –2,988 1,667 4,216 –3,438 778

Deferred taxes are calculated at the effective applicable rate for each company. This results in an average, weighted
group tax rate of 24.5% (2010: 24.0%) on balance sheet date. Deferred taxes include capitalised losses carried for-
ward in the amount of CHF 4,857,000 (2010: CHF 3,373,000). Income tax assets arising from tax loss carry-for-
wards are recognised to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefits through future taxable profits is
likely. The Orell Füssli Group has not recognised deferred income tax assets of CHF 2,396,000 (2010:
CHF 82,000). The unutilised tax loss carry-forwards amounting to CHF 8,558,000 (2010: CHF 390,000), aris-
ing mainly at Atlantic Zeiser GmbH, can be carried forward and offset against future taxable income.

4.24  dividend per share

The dividends paid in 2011 and 2010 were in an amount of CHF 4,900,000 (CHF 2.50 per share) and
CHF 4,900,000 (CHF 2.50 per share) respectively. A dividend in respect of the year ended at 31 December 2011
of CHF 3,920,000 (CHF 2.00 per share) is to be proposed to the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to
be held on 10 May 2012. These financial statements do not reflect this dividend payable.

4.25  goodwill from acquisitions

The goodwill arising from acquisitions is offset against Group shareholders’ equity on the date of acquisition.
Theoretical capitalisation of the goodwill would have the following impact on the annual financial statements:

theoretical statement of goodwill

in CHF ‘000 2011 2010

Cost at 1 January 5,110 –

Additions in scope of consolidation (acquisitions) 135 5,110

Cost at 31 December 5,245 5,110

Accumulated amortisation at 1 January –1,022 –

Depreciation and impairment –1,036 –1,022

Accumulated amortisation at 31 December –2,058 –1,022

Theoretical net book value at 1 January 4,088 –

Theoretical net book value at 31 December 3,187 4,088

A theoretical linear amortisation period of five years is usually applied. Goodwill items existing when the change
was made from IFRS to Swiss GAAP FER on 1 January 2011, are converted into Swiss francs at a fixed rate on the
date of acquisition in the above theoretical statement of assets. No currency adjustments in the statement of assets
arise from this approach.
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theoretical impact on net income for the period

in CHF ‘000 2011 2010

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) according to consolidated income statement 2,408 13,235

Goodwill amortisation –1,036 –1,022

Theoretical earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) including goodwill amortisation 1,372 12,213

Net income for the period after minority interests 199 9,454

Goodwill amortisation –1,036 –1,022

Net income for the period after minority interests including goodwill amortisation –837 8,432

theoretical impact on shareholders’ equity

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2011 2010

Equity before minority interests according to the consolidated balance sheet 156,479 162,120

Theoretical capitalisation of goodwill (net book value) 3,187 4,088

Theoretical equity before minority interests goodwill (net book value) 159,666 166,208

4.26  financial instruments

Open currency futures contracts to hedge future cash flows were not yet included in the balance sheet on the
closing date. Several foreign currencies with a total value of CHF 15,772,000 were hedged (2010:
CHF 5,174,000), resulting in a current value of CHF –420,000, which was not included in the balance sheet
(2010: CHF 904,000).

4.27  contingent liabilities and other commitments not included in the balance sheet

The rental guarantees are valid for the next two to seven years and include renewal options.

contingent liabilities and other commitments not included in the balance sheet

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2011 2010

Advance payment guarantees 2,823 13,025

Rental guarantees 3,365 3,730

Bank guarantees 440 440

Liability for purchase of 25.1 % minority interests of SOFHA GmbH 1,217 1,247

Total contingencies and other off-balance sheet liabilities 7,845 18,442

4.28  payables from operating lease contracts

The Orell Füssli Group rents property, machinery and fixed assets by means of operational leases. Some lease
contracts are non-cancellable; others have an option for cancellation of usually less than one year.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

maturities of future aggregate minimum lease payments

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2011 2010

No later than 1 year 11,838 12,116

Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 39,904 42,097

Later than 5 years 29,140 38,842

Total future aggregate minimum lease payments 80,882 93,055
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4.29  changes in scope of consolidation 2011

Orell Füssli Banknote Engineering Ltd: Orell Füssli Holding Ltd acquired the remaining 50% of Orell Füssli Bank-
note Engineering Ltd, Zurich, from the previous owners at the beginning of July 2011.

The acquisition balance sheet is shown below:

acquisition balance sheet of 50% of orell füssli banknote engineering ltd, zurich

in CHF ‘000 at 1 July 2011 Fair value

Cash and cash equivalents 123

Receivables 5

Deferred tax assets 17

Liabilities –14

Accrued expenses and deferred income –1

Net assets 130

Goodwill 270

Anticipated purchase price for 100 % 400

Already owned by the Group 50 % –200

Effective purchase price for 50 % 200

Goodwill for 50 % 135

4.30  changes in scope of consolidation 2010

SOFHA GmbH: The German subsidiary Atlantic Zeiser GmbH acquired 74.9 % of the shares of Berlin-based
SOFHA GmbH effective from 1 January 2010. As a result of the change in accounting policies and the decision
to offset goodwill directly against shareholders’ equity, calculation of goodwill under Swiss GAAP FER was rede-
fined and customer relationships, current licences and in-house developments in particular were no longer cap-
italised.
The acquisition balance sheet according to Swiss GAAP FER is shown below:

acquisition balance sheet of sofha gmbh, berlin

Fair value Fair value
at 1 January 2010 in EUR ‘000 in CHF ‘000

Cash and cash equivalents 725 1,077

Receivables 638 948

Inventories 106 157

Accrued income and deferred expenses 11 16

Tangible assets 47 70

Current liabilities –509 –756

Current provisions –154 –229

Accrued expenses and deferred income –118 –175

Net assets 746 1,108

Goodwill 4,594 6,823

Anticipated purchase price for 100 % 5,340 7,931

Minority interests of 25.1 % –1,340 –1,991

Effective purchase price for 74.9 % 4,000 5,940

Goodwill for 74.9 % 3,441 5,110

The remaining minority interests of 25.1% can be acquired from 2014 onwards.

Böwe Cardtec GmbH: Subsidiary Atlantic Zeiser GmbH acquired significant assets of the insolvent Böwe
Cardtec GmbH, based in Paderborn (D), in September 2010. No goodwill arose from the acquisition.
Photoglob Ltd: In March 2010 Management of the Group decided to dispose of its existing 71% majority interest
in Photoglob Ltd. The Orell Füssli Group continues to include the remaining minority holding currently amount-
ing to 34% under “Investments in associated companies”. Share sales to date have been made at fair value.
Atlantic Zeiser Malaysia: Subsidiary Atlantic Zeiser GmbH formed a new company in Kuala Lupur, Malaysia. This
new company, Atlantic Zeiser SDN BHD, has been operational since 1 January 2010.
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Storyworld GmbH: A new Internet book retailing platform, www.storyworld.ch, came online in summer 2010;
this is managed by the newly formed Storyworld GmbH, based in Emmingen. Storyworld GmbH is included in
the scope of consolidation of the Orell Füssli Group for the first time in the 2010 financial year as a subsidiary of
Orell Füssli Buchhandlungs Ltd and is integrated in the Book Retailing Segment.
Rösslitor Bücher Ltd: The St Gall-based subsidiary was merged into parent company Orell Füssli Buch-
handlungs Ltd in the first half of 2010. 

4.31  related party transactions

All transactions with related parties are included in the consolidated annual financial statements for 2011 and
2010. They consist of deliveries of goods and raw materials, services and financial movements from and to related
parties.

The relevant balances of accounts receivable and payable are stated separately in these financial statements (Notes
4.12 and 4.19).

related party transactions

in CHF ‘000 with associated with with other Total with associated with with other Total
entities shareholders related parties 2011 entities shareholders related parties 2010

Net revenues from sales – 28,290 – 28,290 16 31,327 – 31,343

Other operating income 288 – – 288 172 – – 172

Financial income 35 – – 35 34 – – 34

Cost of materials 5 – 5,950 5,955 4 – 5,687 5,691

Other operating expenses – – 160 160 – – 160 160

In 2011 and 2010, the Orell Füssli Group continued to sell books and publishing products to related parties and
to employees at favourable rates.

A full list of all group and associated companies is shown in section 8: “Companies of the Orell Füssli Group”.

4.32  board and execuives compensations

The Orell Füssli Group assigned salaries and other current compensations to the Board of Directors and Execu-
tive Board of the Group in the amount of CHF 2,691,000 (2010: CHF 3,204,000) for the financial year 2011. The
social insurance contribution amounted to CHF 322,000 (2010: CHF 392,000).

For the disclosures of the remunerations to the Board of Directors and Executive Board of the Group in connec-
tion with the transparency law reference is made to note 7.12 of the financial report of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd.

4.33  events after the balance sheet date

The Board of Directors will submit a proposal to the Annual General Meeting to elect Heinrich Fischer to the
Board. 

Manfred Minich has been appointed Head of the Atlantic Zeiser Division with effect from 1 May 2012, and at
the same time elected a member of the Executive Board of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd.

No other events occurred between the balance sheet date and the date of 30 March 2012 when the Board of
Directors approved the consolidated financial statements that add more information to any item in the consoli-
dated financial statement, that could put into question the going concern of the Group or that are of material
nature.
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5 report of the group auditors

To the general meeting of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd
As statutory auditor, we have audited the consolidated financial statements of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd, which
comprise the income statement, balance sheet, cash flow statement, statement of changes in equity and notes
(pages 10 to 34), for the year ended 31 December 2011.

Board of Directors’ Responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and the fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER and the requirements of Swiss law. This responsibility includes
designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation and fair presen-
tation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit proce-
dures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effective-
ness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the account-
ing policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suf-
ficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 give a true and fair
view of the financial position, the results of operations and the cash flows in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER
and comply with Swiss law.

Report on other legal requirements
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditors Oversight Act (AOA)
and independence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our
independence. 

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an
internal control system exists which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial statements
according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved, provided that at the
general meeting of 10 May 2012 approves the changes in the articles of incorporation outlined in note 2.2 of the
financial report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd

Christian Kessler Thomas Wallmer
Audit expert Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Zurich, 30 March 2012
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6 financial statements of orell füssli holding ltd

6.1  income statement

in CHF ‘000 NOTES 2011 2010

Income from investments 7.1 9,020 11,040

Other operating income 2,188 2,252

Total operating income 11,208 13,292

Personnel expenditure –1,670 –2,050

Other operating expenses –1,757 –1,487

Earnings before interest and taxes 7,781 9,755

Financial income 6,541 6,598

Financial expenses –3,269 –8,250

Financial result 7.2 3,272 –1,652

Net operating income before extraordinary income and expenses 11,053 8,103

Extraordinary income 7.3 332 421

Extraordinary expenses 7.4 –3,338 –144

Earning before taxes (EBT) 8,047 8,380

Income tax expenses 7.5 190 –6

Net income for the period 7.6 8,237 8,374
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6.2  balance sheet at 31 december

in CHF ‘000 NOTES 2011 2010

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 667 2,560

Receivables from affiliated and associated entities 7.7 58,707 56,429

Other receivables 96 109

Total current assets 59,470 59,098

Operating assets 45 62

Investments in affialiated and associated entities 7.8 28,241 28,191

Loans to affiliated and associated entities 7.7 56,642 54,481

Total non-current assets 84,928 82,734

Total assets 144,398 141,832

Liabilities

Trade payables 84 155

Payables to affiliated and associated entities 7.9 13,632 13,444

Current provisions 5 5

Other current liabilities 548 1,432

Total current liabilities 14,269 15,036

Provisions for restructuring 139 143

Total non-current liabilities 139 143

Share capital 1,960 1,960

Legal reserves 11,140 11,140

Unrestricted reserves 7.10 108,653 105,179

Retained earnings:

Net income for the period 8,237 8,374

Total equity 129,990 126,653

Total liabilities 144,398 141,832
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7 notes to the financial statements

7.1  income from investments

Income from investments relates to distributions by subsidiaries from retained earnings at 31 December 2011.
The relevant annual general meetings have already approved these dividend payments.

7.2  financial result

In 2010 Orell Füssli Holding Ltd accounted for an exceptionally high adjustment of CHF 5,165,000 on euro-
denominated loans due to the steep decline in the euro exchange rate. A further adjustment of CHF 639,000 was
necessary in the 2011 financial year. Orell Füssli Holding Ltd states currency fluctuations in gross figures.

7.3  extraordinary income

The outcome for 2011 arose from the release of provisions dating from 2007 which are no longer necessary. The
outcome in 2010 related to the sale of the majority holding in Photoglob Ltd and the revaluation of minority
interests.

7.4  extraordinary expenses

Extraordinary expenses of CHF 3,043,000 in 2011 arose from the value adjustment on the loan to Atlantic
Zeiser GmbH and the CHF 150,000 write-down of goodwill on the 100% acquisition of Orell Füssli Banknote
Engineering Ltd. Payments of CHF 145,000 were also made to pensioners of the Orell Füssli Group and other
donations disbursed both in the 2011 financial year and in the previous year.

7.5  income tax expenses

Income tax for the 2011 financial year is calculated on ordinary net income less income from investments. Tax
provisions from earlier years which were no longer necessary were released.

7.6  net income for the period

The value adjustment to loans had a significant impact on the outcome in the 2011 financial year. In the previous
year exchange rate losses on foreign currency loans had a negative impact.

7.7  receivables from and loans to consolidated and associated entities

Orell Füssli Holding Ltd provides necessary financial resources for its subsidiaries and other associated compa-
nies in the form of loans or short-term overdraft facilities.

7.8  investments in consolidated and associated entities

The change of CHF 50,000 is attributable to the 100% acquisition of Orell Füssli Banknote Engineering Ltd.

7.9  payables to consolidated and associated entities

Christmas sales generate exceptionally high levels of cash and cash equivalents in book retailing. These funds are
placed at the disposal of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd in the form of short-term loans.

7.10  unrestricted reserves

The unrestricted reserves and retained earnings from the previous year are aggregated in accordance with the res-
olution adopted by the Annual General Meeting held on 11 May 2005.

unrestricted reserves

in CHF ‘000 2011 2010

Opening balance at 1 January 105,179 96,649

./. dividends paid –4,900 –4,900

+ retained earnings from previous period 8,374 13,430

Closing balance at 31 December 108,653 105,179
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7.11  risk assessment

The Board of Directors and the Executive Board of the Orell Füssli Group are responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate controls for financial reporting. The Board of Directors of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd is fully
integrated into the risk assessment process. Processes are in place to ensure that risks are identified at an early
stage and action can be taken to mitigate risks. Risk assessment is conducted within the framework of the group’s
management structure. 

Risk management at the Orell Füssli Group is performed by the compliance officers of the divisions under the
supervision of the internal control officer. Risks are systematically entered in a risk register and categorised in
accordance with the recommendations of the COSO report. The divisions and Executive Management are prima-
rily responsible for risk assessment and management. The central functions of the Orell Füssli Group are respon-
sible for providing systematic basic principles, training, coordination and monitoring. The internal control offi-
cer regularly reports to the Board of Directors of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd and the Audit Committee on the nature,
extent and assessment of the risks and the action taken.

7.12  remuneration of members of the board of directors and the executive board

Basic principles 
The remuneration stated relates to payments made in the period under review. The tables below therefore con-
tain in full all entitlements to remuneration in respect of the 2011 financial year. Provisions are made in the rele-
vant financial year for all remuneration as yet unpaid, even if this is not disbursed until the following year.

The Orell Füssli Group made no payments other than those listed in the tables below to current or former mem-
bers of the Board of Directors, the Executive Board or related parties, nor did it waive any claims on these parties.

Share ownership 
On balance sheet date, 200 shares were held by Nick Huber and 100 shares by Dieter Widmer, both members of
the Board of Directors, and 265 shares were held by Michel Kunz and 80 shares by Dr. Anton Gasteiger, both
members of the Executive Board. Directors Dr. Hans Kuhn and Dewet Moser are officers of the Swiss National
Bank (SNB), which holds 653,460 shares of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd.

Remuneration of members of the Board of Directors and members of the Executive Board
Compensation for non-executive directors always applies to a period of office. 

remuneration of members of the board of directors in 2011

in CHF Basic Variable Other
remuneration remuneration payments Total 2011

Social
Special security and

in cash in cash allowances pension costs

Dr. Klaus Oesch, Chairman 201,000 – – 14,897 215,897

Dr. Hans Kuhn, Deputy Chairman
Compensation Committee (Chairman) 20,000 14,000 3,500 2,850 40,350

Nick Huber
Compensation Committee (Member) 20,000 14,000 1,500 2,698 38,198

Dewet Moser
Audit Committee (Member) 20,000 14,000 – 2,584 36,584

Gonpo Tsering
Audit Committee (Member) 20,000 16,000 2,500 2,926 41,426

Andreas S. Wetter
Compensation Committee (Member) 20,000 14,000 4,000 2,888 40,888

Dieter Widmer
Audit Committee (Chairman) 20,000 16,000 3,500 3,002 42,502

Total 321,000 88,000 15,000 31,845 455,845

CHF 7,545 was paid to Dieter Widmer’s Valeth company in the 2011 financial year for consultancy services on
the change in accounting policies.



not es to t he fina nci a l stat e me n ts

40 fina nci a l r eport 2011or ell füssli

remuneration of members of the board of directors in 2010

in CHF Basic Variable Other
remuneration remuneration payments Total 2010

Social
Special security and

in cash in cash allowances pension costs

Dr. Klaus Oesch, Chairman
Audit Committee (Member)
Compensation Committee (Member) 1) 261,000 35,000 – 22,070 318,070

Dr. Rudolf Rentsch, Deputy Chairman
Audit Committee (Chairman) 20,000 20,500 – 1,317 41,817

Dr. Rudolf W. Hug
Compensation Committee (Chairman) 20,000 22,500 – 1,382 43,882

Dr. Hans Kuhn
Compensation Committee (Member) 20,000 18,500 – 2,824 41,324

Nick Huber
Audit Committee (Member) 20,000 12,500 – 2,384 34,884

Total 341,000 109,000 – 29,977 479,977

1) The remuneration of Dr. Klaus Oesch corresponds to the total compensation paid to him in 2010. This includes all remuneration for serving as interim CEO of Orell Füssli
Holding Ltd, a function which he performed additionally between 1 March 2010 and 30 June 2010.

remuneration of members of the executive board in 2011

in CHF Basic Variable Other
remuneration remuneration payments Total 2011

Social
Special security and

in cash in cash allowances pension costs

Michel Kunz
CEO Orell Füssli Group 362,004 49,400 10,261 63,562 485,227

Other members of the Executive 1) 1,436,729 345,190 63,120 226,426 2,071,465

Total 1,798,733 394,590 73,381 289,988 2,556,692

1) The position of Head of Human Resources was re-filled by the appointment of Peter Crottogini with effect from 1 January 2011. In the course of the reorganisation, Hans
Rudolf Andrist moved to Orell Füssli Security Printing Ltd with effect from 30 June 2011, and thus ceased to be a member of the Executive Board of Orell Füssli Ltd.
However, he is continuing to perform the duties of Security Officer of the Group as a whole. Oliver Mehler resigned as CEO of the Atlantic Zeiser Group and as a member of
the Executive Board of the Orell Füssli Group with effect from 31 July 2011. The above figures include compensation for Oliver Mehler until January 2012. Total
compensation from 31 July 2011, until 31 January 2012, amounted to CHF 230,975, including holiday entitlement, bonus and severance payment.

remuneration of members of the executive board in 2010

in CHF Basic Variable Other
remuneration remuneration payments Total 2010

Social
Special security and

in cash in cash allowances pension costs

Michel Kunz
CEO Orell Füssli Group 1) 241,336 66,667 13,334 47,586 368,923

Other members of the Executive 2) 1,664,217 357,729 36,580 260,933 2,319,459

Total 1,905,553 424,396 49,914 308,519 2,688,382

1) The remuneration disclosed for CEO Michel Kunz relates to the period from 1 May to 31 December 2010. Information on Dr. Klaus Oesch has already been disclosed under
the heading of “Remuneration of members of the Board of Directors”.

2) The departure of the CIO in July 2010 and the Head of Human Resources in September 2010 resulted in a reduction in the number of members of the Executive Board.
Neither of these positions was refilled in the 2010 financial year.

Compensation for former CEO Sönke Bandixen in the 2010 financial year totalled CHF 428,090. This amount
comprises basic remuneration of CHF 248,800, a variable component of CHF 125,000 and social security pay-
ments of CHF 54,290. This expenditure is not included in the total remuneration of members of the Executive
Board.
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7.13  major shareholders

at 31 December 2011 Total
registered Participation

shares in %

Swiss National Bank (SNB), Berne (CH) 653,460 33.34%

Dieter Meier, Buenos Aires (AR) 274,226 13.99%

Fam. Siegert, Meerbusch (D) 156,800 8.00%

Sarasin Investmentfonds Ltd, Basle (CH) 138,389 7.06%

7.14 further information

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2011 2010

Contingent liabilities in favour of third parties 6,628 17,195

Orell Füssli held none of its own shares on 31 December 2011.

No further disclosures are required under Art. 663b of the Swiss Code of Obligations.

7.15 proposed appropriation of retained earnings and unrestricted reserves

The following proposal for the appropriation of retained earnings will be submitted to the Annual General Meet-
ing on 10 May 2012:

proposed appropriation of retained earnings and unrestricted reserves

in CHF ‘000 2011

Unrestricted reserves 108,653

Net income for the year 2011 8,237

Earnings available for appropriation 116,890

Dividend per share of CHF 2.00 –3,920

Total unrestricted reserves 112,970

If this proposal is approved, the dividend will amount to:

dividend upon approval of the proposed appropriation of retained earnings

in CHF 2011

Dividend per share 2.00

minus withholding tax –0.70

To be paid out 1.30
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8 companies of the orell füssli group

significant investments

Nominal capital % of capital held 1)

City, Country Currency in 1000 direct indirect 2)

Affiliated companies for which
full consolidation treatment applies

Orell Füssli Security Printing Ltd Zurich, CH CHF 10,000 100

Orell Füssli Technology Ltd Zug, CH CHF 50 100

Orell Füssli Banknote Engineering Ltd Zurich, CH CHF 100 100

Orell Füssli Buchhandlungs Ltd Zurich, CH CHF 5,000 51

Storyworld GmbH 3) Emmingen, D EUR 25 100

Orell Füssli Verlag Ltd Zurich, CH CHF 1,000 100

Orell Füssli Dienstleistungs Ltd Zurich, CH CHF 500 100

Atlantic Zeiser GmbH Emmingen, D EUR 869 100

Atlantic Zeiser Inc. 4) West Caldwell, USA USD 0 100

Atlantic Zeiser (M) SDN BHD 4) Kuala Lumpur, MAL MYR 100 100

Atlantic Zeiser Ltd 4) Andover, UK GBP 0 100

Atlantic Zeiser SAS 4) Créteil Cedex, F EUR 38 100

Atlantic Zeiser SA 4) Madrid, E EUR 60 100

Atlantic Zeiser SRL 4) Milano, I EUR 100 100

SOFHA GmbH 4) Berlin, D EUR 281 75

Tritron GmbH 4) Battenberg, D EUR 200 51

Associated companies for which equity
consolidation treatment applies

Photoglob Ltd Zurich, CH CHF 1,000 34

Orell Füssli Kartographie Ltd Zurich, CH CHF 210 24

Travel Book Shop Ltd 3) Zurich, CH CHF 100 35

Bider & Tanner Ltd 3) Basle, CH CHF 100 25

Other interests

Schweizer Buchzentrum 3) Hägendorf, CH CHF 13,230 17

1) Capital held and voting rights in % are identical except the participation in the cooperative Schweizer Buchzentrum.
2) Capital participation of the particular mother company.
3) Held through Orell Füssli Buchhandlungs Ltd.
4) Held through Atlantic Zeiser GmbH
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9 report of the statutory auditors on the

financial statements

To the general meeting of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd, Zurich
As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd, which comprise the
income statement, balance sheet and notes (pages 36 to 42), for the year ended 31 December 2011.

Board of Directors’ Responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the
requirements of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible
for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable
in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan and per-
form the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstate-
ment.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes eval-
uating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 comply with Swiss law and the
company’s articles of incorporation.

Report on other legal requirements
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and
independence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our
independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an
internal control system exists which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according to
the instruction of the Board of Directors.

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and the com-
pany’s articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd

Christian Kessler Thomas Wallmer
Audit expert Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Zurich, 30 March 2012
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Corporate Governance

This report complies with the requirements of the SIX Swiss Exchange’s guidelines regard-
ing information on corporate governance. Unless stated otherwise, the data refer to
31 December 2011.

1.  group structure and shareholders 

Operating structure of the group
In management terms the Orell Füssli Group is subdivided into three divisions and the publishing
companies.

Strategic and operating management within the Atlantic Zeiser, Security Printing and Book Retail-
ing divisions, as well as the publishing companies, is largely autonomous. Orell Füssli Holding Ltd
operates as a financial holding company and exerts influence on the strategic focus of the individual
divisions.

Companies included in the scope of consolidation 
The registered office of the parent company, Orell Füssli Holding Ltd, is in Zurich. The company is
listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange under security code 342 080 and ISIN code CH0003420806. Its
market capitalisation on 31 December 2011 was CHF 208 million.

Orell Füssli Holding Ltd has no investments in listed companies. An overview of its main invest-
ment holdings is included in the financial report.

Major shareholders 
There were no material changes in shareholdings in the year under review and therefore no disclosures
were required. Please refer to the financial report for a list of major shareholders. 

Cross-shareholdings 
There are no cross-shareholdings with other public limited companies.

2.  capital structure

Capital
The share capital of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd consists of 1,960,000 registered shares with a par value of
CHF 1.- each and is fully paid. Each share entitles the holder to one vote. Orell Füssli Holding Ltd has
issued neither dividend-right certificates nor participation certificates.

At 31 December 2011, Orell Füssli Holding Ltd had neither contingent nor authorised capital at its
disposal, and no convertible bonds or options were outstanding. 

Changes in capital 
The share capital of Orell Füssli Holding was unchanged in the year under review and the two preced-
ing years.

Transfer restrictions 
The Articles of Incorporation of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd include no restrictions on the transfer of
shares.

The Articles of Incorporation of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd can be accessed online at (www.orell-
fuessli.com/en/investors/corporate-governance).
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Dr. Klaus Oesch chairman Chairman since 2007,
1992–2007 Managing Director

Swiss, born 1944; Qualifications: Dr. sc. techn., dipl. El.-Ing. ETH, MBA INSEAD
Significant professional activities and functions:
— 1968–1971 Swissair Ltd, Zurich: Operations Research
— 1972–1973 Georg Fischer Ltd, Schaffhausen: Group Development
— 1974–1983 UBS Ltd, Zurich: Turnaround Management, M&A (First Vice President)
— 1984–1991 Eternit/Nueva Group Zurich: Member of Group Management
Other board appointments:
— Chairman of the Board of Directors, Geosond Holding Ltd, Glarus
— Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors, Koras Ltd, Hasle-Rüegsau
— Member of the Board of Directors, Typon Holding Ltd, Krauchthal
— Member of the Board of Directors, Raymed Imaging Ltd, Krauchthal

Dr. Hans Kuhn deputy chairman Chairman of the Compensation Committee
Member of the Board of Directors since 2007

Swiss, born 1961; Qualifications: Dr. iur., lawyer, LL.M.
Significant professional activities and functions:
— 1995–2001 Swiss Federal Office of Justice, Section of Private International Law 

and International Civil Procedure Law, 1998–2001 Deputy Head of Section
— 2001–2007 Swiss National Bank (SNB): Head of Legal Services, Director since 2003
— Since 2007 SNB: Head of the “Law and Services Division”
Other board appointments:
— Member of the Board of Directors of the StabFund Group

3.  board of directors 

Members of the Board of Directors Year of birth Nationality Member since

Dr. Klaus Oesch 1944 Swiss 06.05.1992

Dr. Hans Kuhn 1961 Swiss 09.05.2007

Nick Huber 1964 Swiss 11.05.2010

Dewet Moser 1960 Swiss 10.05.2011

Gonpo Tsering 1956 Swiss 10.05.2011

Andreas S. Wetter 1949 Swiss 10.05.2011

Dieter Widmer 1963 Swiss 10.05.2011

Biographical details of the members of the Board of Directors 
There are no executive directors. Dr. Hans Kuhn and Dewet Moser represent the Swiss National Bank
(SNB), the company’s largest shareholder. The SNB has its banknotes produced by Orell Füssli. All
other directors are independent and have no material business relationships with Orell Füssli Holding
Ltd or any other company in the Orell Füssli Group besides their directorship.
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Nick Huber member of the board Member of the Compensation Committee
Member of the Board of Directors since 2010

Swiss, born 1964; Qualifications: Businessman
Significant professional activities and functions:
— 1990–1995 Account Manager IBM (Schweiz) Ltd
— 1995–2004 Head of SFS Unimarket Ltd
— Since 2005: Member of the Executive Board, SFS Services Ltd, Heerbrugg
Other board appointments:
— Chairman of the Board of Directors, COLTENE Holding Ltd, Altstätten
— Member of the Board of Directors, Gurit Holding Ltd, Wattwil
— Member of the Board of Directors, Huwa Finanz- und Beteiligungs Ltd, Heerbrugg
— Member of the Board of Directors, Alpha RHEINTAL Bank Ltd, Heerbrugg

Dewet Moser member of the board Member of the Audit Committee
Member of the Board of Directors since 2011

Swiss, born 1960; Qualifications: Lic.rer.pol., University of Basel
Significant professional activities and functions:
— 1986–1990 Swiss National Bank (SNB), Zurich: Research Assistant
—1990–1991 US Federal Reserve Bank, St. Louis/USA: period of research
—1992–1997 SNB, Zurich: Head Monetary Operations Advisory
—1997–2006 SNB, Zurich: Head Risk Management
— Since May 2007 SNB, Zurich: Head Financial Markets and Alternate Member of the Governing Board 

(appointment by the Swiss Federal Council in December 2006)
Other board appointments:
— None

Gonpo Tsering member of the board Member of the Audit Committee
Member of the Board of Directors since 2011

Swiss, born 1956; Qualifications: Lic.oec. HSG University of St. Gallen, MBA IMD Lausanne
Significant professional activities and functions:
— 1983–1984 Ciba-Geigy Ltd, Basel: Controller
— 1985–1988 Ciba-Geigy Ltd, Nairobi/Kenya: Regional Planning & Controlling Manager
— 1990–1997 Diethelm Holdings Bhd, Kuala Lumpur/Malaysia: Group Finance Director
— 1998–1999 Rothmans of Pall Mall Ltd, Zug: Finance Director
— 2000–2001 SiberHegner Holding Ltd, Zurich: Chief Financial Officer, Member of Group Management
— Since 2002 DKSH Holding Ltd, Zurich: Head Operations Support, Member of Group Management
Other board appointments:
— Chairman of the Board of Directors, Maurice Lacroix Holding Ltd, Zurich
— Member of the Board of Directors, Lomb Art Ltd, Freienbach
— Member of the Board of Directors of several DKSH Holding subsidiaries
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Andreas S. Wetter member of the board Member of the Compensation Committee
Member of the Board of Directors since 2011

Swiss, born 1949; Qualifications: Electronics engineer, Executive MBA GSBA Zurich/Boston University
Significant professional activities and functions:
— 1974–1976 Assignments in Canada
— 1977–1993 Various managerial functions in companies in the IT industry, Zurich
— 1993–1995 Ascom Audisys Ltd, Flamatt: Executive Director
— 1996–1998 Radio TV Steiner Ltd, Berne (Coop Group): Managing Director
— 1998–2009 Orange Switzerland, Lausanne: Executive Director
— Since 2009 Wetter & Partner GmbH, Feldmeilen: Partner, independent Management Consultant and

Director
Other board appointments:
— Chairman of the Board of Directors, Orange Switzerland and Liechtenstein, Lausanne/Balzers 

(until 29.02.2012)
— Member of the Board of Directors, Orange Rumania, Bucharest (until 29.2.2012)
— Member of the Board of Directors, Broadband Networks Ltd, Urdorf
— Board member of trade associations ICTswitzerland and asut

Dieter Widmer member of the board Member of the Audit Committee
Member of the Board of Directors since 2011

Swiss, born 1963; Qualifications: Swiss certified public accountant (CPA) and auditor
Significant professional activities and functions:
— 1986–2010 KPMG, Zurich, Vancouver, Berne: Auditor and Management Consultant, 

as of 1997 Head of KPMG Berne, as of 1998 Partner and as of 2002 Member of the Executive
Committee of KPMG Switzerland, as of 2007 Member of the Non-Executive Board and 
Member of the Audit Committee of KPMG Europe LLP (Frankfurt/London)

— Since 2010 valeth, Forch: Owner, Management Consultant and independent Member of various 
Boards of Directors

Other board appointments:
— Member of the Red Cross Council, Swiss Red Cross, Berne
— Co-owner and Member of the Board of Directors, EquityNova Ltd, Zug
— Chairman of the Board of Directors, Curena Ltd, Zurich
— Chairman of the Board of Directors, Ilford Property Switzerland GmbH, Marly
— Member of the Board of Directors, Mühle Walther Ltd, Bolligen

Election and term of office 
The Board of Directors consists of at least three members elected by the Annual General Meeting of
shareholders. Directors are elected for a one-year term of office by an absolute majority of votes repre-
sented at an Annual General Meeting of shareholders. Directors are elected individually. The restric-
tions on age and duration of office are stipulated in the regulations governing the organisation of the
company, which can be accessed online at (www.orellfuessli.com/en/investors/corporate-
governance).

Internal organisation
The Board of Directors has the following functions: Chairman and Vice-Chairman.

The principal duties of the Board of Directors are as defined by the Swiss Code of Obligations, in par-
ticular Art. 716a, and the regulations governing the organisation of the company. Management of the
business is delegated to the CEO and the Executive Board of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd. The CEO chairs
the Executive Board.

The Board of Directors meets as often as business requires, but at least once a quarter. Meetings usu-
ally last half a day. In the year under review the Board of Directors met four times for periods of half a
day to a full day (plus the constituent meeting following the Annual General Meeting). Members of
executive management may also be invited to attend meetings. The Board of Directors can also call in
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external consultants in order to deal with specific issues. The Board of Directors is assisted in its work
by the two permanent committees referred to below. In the year under review a further temporary
committee was formed to deal with strategic issues at a division; this committee held two half-day
meetings, and its findings were discussed at the subsequent board meeting.

Audit Committee
The Board of Directors has appointed an Audit Committee, which assesses the external auditors, the
internal controls and the annual financial statements. The duties of the Audit Committee are defined
in specific regulations. The Audit Committee has decision-making authority subject to the approval of
the Board of Directors as a whole, which also receives the minutes of the meetings. The committee con-
sists of three members of the Board of Directors. The CEO and CFO as well as a representative of the
auditors also attend the meetings of the Audit Committee in a consultative capacity. The committee
meets at least twice a year, usually in the first and third quarter. The Audit Committee held three half-
day meetings in the year under review.

Compensation Committee 
The Board of Directors has appointed a Compensation Committee, which determines the salary of the
members of the Executive Board and management personnel, subject to corporate profits and perform-
ance. The duties of the Compensation Committee are defined in specific regulations. The Compensation
Committee has decision-making authority. The other members of the Board of Directors are informed of
the business dealt with and the main decisions taken after each meeting. The Compensation Committee
consists of three members of the Board of Directors. The Group CEO also attends the meetings in a non-
voting capacity. The committee meets at least once a year. The Compensation Committee held two meet-
ings lasting about two hours each in the year under review. 

Allocation of authority between the Board of Directors and the Executive Board 
The allocation of authority between the Board of Directors and the Executive Board is defined by the
regulations governing the organisation of the company, which can be accessed online at (www.orell-
fuessli.com/en/investors/corporate-governance). The Board of Directors determines business policy
and the organisational structure, appoints the CEO, approves the budget and takes decisions on pro-
posals assigned to it in the context of the allocation of authority. The Board of Directors has entrusted
the management of the business to the Executive Board under the chairmanship of the CEO.

Information and control instruments of the Board of Directors 
The CEO briefs the Board of Directors at its meetings about the current trend of business and impor-
tant business transactions. Financial reporting to the Board of Directors consists of three quarterly
reports in the course of the year and the Annual Report with annual financial statements at the end of
the financial year. 

The Chairman of the Board of Directors regularly meets with the CEO and receives for information
purposes the minutes of the meetings of the Executive Board of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd as well as of
the business review meetings held with the divisions every two to three months. 

The Board of Directors and the Audit Committee in particular supervises risk management and
implementation of the internal control system. The Audit Committee defines its own audit areas and
is informed at its meetings by the representative of the internal control system about the results of
audits conducted by independent internal or external units. Details of the internal control system and
risk management can be accessed online at (www.orellfuessli.com/en/investors/corporate-
governance). Please also refer to the details of risk assessment in the notes to the annual financial state-
ments of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd. 
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4.  executive board

Members of the Executive Board (at 31 December 2011)

Michel Kunz member of the executive board CEO Orell Füssli Holding Ltd

Swiss, born 1959; Qualifications: Dipl. El. Ing. ETH Zurich, MBA Master of Business Administration GSBA
Significant professional activities and functions:
— 1985–1987 BBC, Baden: Development Engineer
— 1987–1990 Schweizer Electronics, Development Engineer
— 1991–1993 Ascom Hasler Ltd, Director Procurement
— 1993–1994 Ascom Hasler Ltd, Director Profit Center Electronic Production
— 1994–1997 PostFinance/Swiss Post, Director System Development and Member of the Executive Board
— 1997–1999 Swiss Post, Director Information Technology/Member of the extended Executive

Management
— 1999–2009 Swiss Post, Member of the Executive Management (amongst others Director PostMail and

PostLogistics), finally as Chairman of the Executive Management
— Since 1 July 2010 CEO Orell Füssli Group
Other board appointments:
— Various directorships with companies in the Orell Füssli Group
— Member of the Board of Directors, BSI Business Systems Integration Ltd, Baden

Johannes Caprez member of the executive board CFO Orell Füssli Holding Ltd

Swiss, born 1952; Qualifications: Swiss certified accountant/Controller, 
Swiss certified pension fund administration expert
Significant professional activities and functions:
— 1972–1981 various financial appointments
— 1982–1985 Orell Füssli Graphische Betriebe Ltd, Head of Cost Accounting
— 1986–1989 Katadyn Products Ltd, Wallisellen: Head of Finance & Accounting
— 1990–1998 Orell Füssli Graphische Betriebe Ltd, Head of Finance & Accounting
— Since 1999 Orell Füssli Group, CFO
Other board appointments:
— Various directorships with companies in the Orell Füssli Group
— Member of the Foundation Board Imoka Anlagestiftung, Zug
— Member of the Board of Directors, Pensimo Management Ltd, Zurich

Peter Crottogini member of the executive board Head Human Resources

Swiss, born 1959; Qualifications: Trainer in Further Education (Swiss Federal Certificate), 
Manager in Adult Education (Swiss Diploma)
Significant professional activities and functions:
— 1995–2001 Swissair Instructor & Manager of Training Ground Services worldwide 
— 2001–2002 ESEC Management AG, Manager Education & Training
— 2002–2003 Swiss International Air Lines, General Manager Sales & Marketing and Airport Training
— 2003–2009 Sunrise Communication AG, Manager Training & Development
— 2010 Orell Füssli Group, Head Personnel & Organisational Development
— Since 1 January 2011: Head Human Resources Orell Füssli Group
Other board appointments:
— None
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Fabio Amato member of the executive board Head of the Book Retailing Division

Swiss-Italian, born 1969; Qualifications: Masters in Industrial Engineering, ETH Zurich
Significant professional activities and functions:
— 1996–2002 ABB Switzerland: various functions; Head of Operations, Gas-insulated Switch Systems
— 2002–2004 Orell Füssli Holding Ltd: Assistant to the Managing Director/CEO
— Since 2004 Head of the Book Retailing Division, Orell Füssli Group
Other board appointments:
— Various directorships with companies in the Orell Füssli Group and associated companies

Dr. Anton Gasteiger member of the executive board Head of the Security Printing Division

Austrian, born 1957; Qualifications: Master Business Administration, Vienna University of Economics
and Business Administration, PhD Macro-Economics, University Paris IX/Vienna University of
Economics and Business Administration, Post-graduate studies, Tokyo Nohkoh University, Japan 
Significant professional activities and functions:
— 1984–1989 Nixdorf Computer, Düsseldorf, Munich, Tokyo, Hong Kong,

various Sales Functions and Member of Executive Boards in various subsidiaries
— 1990–2008 Giesecke & Devrient GmbH, Group Vice President Sales & Marketing, Printing Division
— Since 2009: Head of the Security Printing Division, Orell Füssli Group
Other board appointments:
— Various directorships with companies in the Orell Füssli Group

Dr. Matti Schüsseler member of the executive board Head of the Publishing Division

German, born 1959; Qualifications: Studies in literature and linguistics at the Universities of Göttingen,
Rennes (France), Munich and Constance
Significant professional activities and functions:
— 1988–1991 Bertelsmann AG, Gütersloh, various functions, finally Head of the Representative Office 

in Berlin
— 1991–1993 FNAC Deutschland GmbH, Berlin, Division Manager Books
— 1993–1996 Klett AG, Stuttgart, General Manager Ernst Klett Distribution Company
— 1996–2010 Langenscheidt KG, Munich, Director Marketing & Distribution and Member of the

Management Board; in addition CEO Langenscheidt Poland, Warsaw (as of 2000) and Langenscheidt Ibérica,
Madrid (as of 2008)

— Since 1 March, 2011: Head of the Publishing Division, Orell Füssli Group 
Other board appointments:
— None

Note regarding the Atlantic Zeiser Division
The former CEO of the Atlantic Zeiser Division (and as such a member of the Executive
Board of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd) left the company during the 2011 financial year. The
division is being headed ad interim by Michel Kunz (CEO of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd)
and Thomas Obitz (General Manager of Atlantic Zeiser GmbH).
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5.  compensation of members of the board of directors 

and the executive board 

Basic principles 
Compensation of the Board of Directors and the Executive Board consists of a fixed and a variable com-
ponent. External experts are consulted on the specification of the remuneration system only in the
event of a fundamental restructuring. Functionally specific benchmarks are applied to the determina-
tion of remuneration in the case of new appointments or promotions at group level. 

The Orell Füssli Group has neither a share nor an option allocation scheme for members of the Board
of Directors and the Executive Board. There is therefore no direct connection between shares in Orell
Füssli Holding Ltd held by members of the Executive Board and the Board of Directors and the func-
tions of these officers; they have been acquired privately in open trading on the stock market. 

With the exception of contributions to the pension fund, the upper limit of which (CHF 835,200)
is defined by occupational pensions’ legislation, the Orell Füssli Group does not provide any specific
retirement pension schemes for members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Board. 

No contractually agreed severance payments (“golden parachutes”) have been stipulated in advance
for the members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Board. The members of the Executive
Board are not employed under long-term contracts (no longer than 6 months). 

Compensation 
The fixed directors’ fees are periodically reviewed by the Board of Directors at its own discretion and
adjusted if appropriate. The variable compensation component for the Board of Directors depends both
on the number of meetings held by the committees (attendance fee) and on the dividend paid
(CHF5,000 per Swiss franc of dividend paid). 

The fixed remuneration component for the Executive Board as proposed by the CEO is stipulated
annually with final authority at the start of the new financial year by the Compensation Committee of
the Board of Directors. The amount of fixed remuneration is defined by function, duties, qualifications,
experience and the market environment. The variable compensation component for the Executive
Board is based on bonus regulations adopted by the Board of Directors. The maximum possible amount
of variable remuneration (if all targets are achieved) is stipulated individually and amounts to
20–60percent of basic salary. It is calculated on the basis of a preset formula which takes into account
EBIT and the achievement of individually specified annual targets, whereby the weighting of EBIT and
individually specified targets is stipulated individually for each member of the Executive Board. The
members of the Executive Board performing exclusively group-related functions (CEO, CFO, Head of
HR) are assessed in terms of group profit with regard to EBIT, other members of the Executive Board
mainly with regard to the profits of the division headed by them. The individually specified three to five
annual targets comprise quantitative and qualitative components and must be specific, measurable,
challenging, relevant and have time limits. They can, for example, relate to the implementation of a
project, compliance with a project budget or professional further development. The Chairman of the
Board of Directors is responsible for specifying individual targets for the CEO. The CEO specifies the
individual targets of the other members of the Executive Board. 

The fixed remuneration component of the Executive Board and the Chairman of the Board of Direc-
tors includes a lump sum for expenses and individually agreed additional benefits such as providing a
free company car or assuming the cost of a rail season ticket. 
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Loans and other payments 
No loans were granted to current or former members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Board
in the 2011 financial year, nor were any guarantees assumed for loans granted to directors and officers
by third parties. The balance sheet contains no claims of this nature arising from loans as of 31 Decem-
ber 2011. 

Other information 
Detailed information on the compensation of the Board of Directors and the Executive Board in the
2011 financial year and on compensation for a former member of the Executive Board is included in the
notes to the annual financial statements of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd (Section 7 of the financial report). 

The Orell Füssli Group made no further payments to current or former members of the Board of
Directors and the Executive Board or related parties and did not waive any claims on these parties. 

6.  shareholders’ participation rights 

Only those persons listed in the shareholders’ register are recognised as shareholders in relation to the
company. Entry in the shareholders’ register presupposes evidence of beneficial ownership of the
shares to be registered. The conditions are stipulated in the relevant regulations (Regulations of the
Board of Directors regarding the registration of shares and maintenance of the shareholders’ register),
which together with the company’s Articles of Incorporation can be accessed online at (www.orell-
fuessli.com/en/investors/corporate-governance).

In order to attend the Annual General Meeting each shareholder must furnish evidence of his share-
holding no less than five days prior to the date of the meeting. He will then receive an admission card
issued in his name. Notwithstanding the relevant legal provision (Art. 689, para. 2 of the Swiss Code
of Obligations) the Articles of Incorporation provide that a shareholder can only be represented by
another shareholder and therefore not by any third party at the Annual General Meeting. The only
exceptions from this requirement are senior officers of companies listed in the Commercial Register. 

Shareholders representing at least 5% of the share capital may request the inclusion of an item on the
agenda.

7.  change in control and defensive measures 

There are no provisions in the Articles of Incorporation relating to “opting out” or “opting up”. 
Orell Füssli Holding Ltd has no clauses applying to members of the Board of Directors and the

Executive Board in the event of a change in control. 

8.  auditors 

Duration of the mandate and term of office of the lead auditor  
PricewaterhouseCoopers were first elected external auditors of the consolidated financial statements
and those of the holding company at the Annual General Meeting of shareholders held on 14 May 2003.
Christian Kessler has officiated as lead auditor since the 2009 financial year. 

Audit fees of CHF 388,053 to PricewaterhouseCoopers and CHF 132,125 to other auditors were
incurred in 2011.

Additional fees totalling CHF 71,220 were charged by PricewaterhouseCoopers in the year under
review. 
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Audit supervision and control instruments 
The Audit Committee is responsible for supervising and controlling the external auditors. A represen-
tative of the auditors is also invited to attend meetings of the Audit Committee to provide information.
The Audit Committee assesses the performance, fees and independence of the external auditors on the
basis of criteria such as professional expertise, scope and quality of written reports and oral comments,
practical feasibility of recommendations, transparent and effective communication and coordination,
as well as compliance with deadlines. The Audit Committee examines the scope of external auditing,
audit planning and the relevant processes annually, and discusses the audit results with the external
auditors. Reporting by the external auditors includes the audit reports, the Management Letter and the
detailed report by the auditors on the past financial year addressed to the Audit Committee and the
Board of Directors. 

9.  information policy 

A press release with the group’s provisional key figures for the year under review is issued at the begin-
ning of February after the close of the financial year. The annual financial statements are published
together with the annual report in April. A results press conference and a presentation for financial ana-
lysts are held on the same day. 

The Annual General Meeting of shareholders is held in May. The group issues a press release with the
half-year figures about mid-August. Planned publication dates can be accessed online at (www.orell-
fuessli.com/en/investors/events).
Shareholders receive the annual financial statements (short report) and the half-year report. Press
releases can also be accessed online at (www.orellfuessli.com/en/media/messages).

Information on exceptional events of relevance for the stock market is published in ad hoc press
releases. Shareholders can register at (www.orellfuessli.com/en/investors/ad-hoc-publicity) to have
these forwarded to them automatically. 
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impr in t, con tac t

note regarding forward-looking statements

No statements relating to the future imply any guarantee whatsoever with regard to future performance. They are subject
to risks and uncertainties including but not confined to future global economic conditions, exchange rates, legal
provisions, market conditions, activities by competitors and other factors outside the company’s control, which can lead
to actual developments and results differing significantly from the statements made in this document. Orell Füssli is
under no obligation whatsoever to adjust or amend forward-looking statements on the basis of new information, future
events or for other reasons.

published by orell füssli holding ltd, zurich

concept and design eclat, erlenbach zh

photos beat schweizer, bern

prepress management digital data ltd, lenzburg

printing neidhart + schön ltd, zürich

climate-neutral printing, co
2

compensation in cooperation with myclimate

paper arctic volume white, fsc-certified

the english translation is based on the original annual report in german.

the printed german text is binding.

april 2012 – orell füssli holding ltd, zurich, switzerland

www.orellfuessli.com

contact for investor relations

phone + 41 44 466 72 73
fax + 41 44 466 72 80
e-mail investors@orellfuessli.com



history of the orell füssli group

1519 Company is founded by Christoph Froschauer, a printer who had immigrated from Bavaria.
He becomes a citizen of Zurich, and his company becomes the government printing press.

1531 Folio Bible is printed (the so-called “Zurich Bible”)
1576 The land surveyor Jos Murer publishes a plan of the city
1761 The Orell and Gessner publishing companies merge to form Orell, Gessner & Cie. Hans

Conrad Gessner’s bookshop is also absorbed into this partnership.
1766 Hans Rudolf Füssli takes over the publishing company of Heidegger & Cie.
1770 The Orell, Gessner & Cie. and Füssli & Cie. publishing companies merge to form Orell,

Gessner, Füssli & Cie.
1780 First edition of the “Zürcher Zeitung” newspaper, which became the “Neue Zürcher

Zeitung” in 1821. It was spun off as an independent public limited company in 1868.
1798 The Gessner family withdraw from the partnership; the publishing company and

bookshops now trade as Orell Füssli & Cie.
1827 First securities are printed
1843 First postage stamps are printed in continental Europe,

the second series worldwide – “Züri 4” and “Züri 6”
1880 Development of the ten-colour photochromic printing technique
1890 Company is converted into a public limited company (Art. Institut Orell Füssli Ltd)
1897 Listing on Zurich Stock Exchange
1911 Company begins printing banknotes for the Swiss National Bank
1992 Orell Füssli Buchhandlungs Ltd is founded; the book retailer H. Hugendubel, Germany,

takes a minority interest in the company
1996 Internet book retailing launched at www.books.ch
1999 Company is restructured to form Orell Füssli Holding Ltd
2001 Takeover of Teledata Ltd
2002 Acquisition of a majority shareholding in Atlantic Zeiser Group Ltd (Germany), 

which becomes wholly-owned in 2005
2003 Takeover of the publishing units Atlantis and pro juventute
2004 Acquisition of bookstores Rösslitor Bücher, St. Gall
2007 Acquisition of Globi Verlag, Zurich
2008 Divestment of Orell Füssli Business Information Division
2010 Acquisition of a majority shareholding in SOFHA GmbH, Berlin
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